
1

Prospectus 
South-East Queensland Exploration Limited ACN 659 090 338 (to be 
renamed SQX Resources Limited) 
ASX Code: SQX 

For an offer of 25,000,000 Shares at an issue price of $0.20 per Share to raise 
$5,000,000 and 1 free attaching Loyalty Option for every 2 Shares issued, with an 
exercise price of $0.30 per Loyalty Option. 

This Prospectus also contains an offer of options to the Lead Manager. Please refer to Section 
5.20 of the Prospectus for further details. 

Lead Manager 

PAC Partners Securities Pty Ltd 

Defined terms 

Certain terms and abbreviations used in this Prospectus have defined meanings 
which are explained in the Glossary in Section 12. 

Important document 

This Prospectus provides important information about the Company. You should 
read the entire document. If you have any questions about the Securities being 
offered under this Prospectus, or any other matter relating to an investment in the 
Company, you should consult your professional adviser.  

An investment in the Company's securities is highly speculative. 
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Important Notices 

General 
This Prospectus is dated 30 November 2022. 
A copy of this Prospectus was lodged with 
ASIC on that date. Neither ASIC, ASX nor any 
of their respective officers take any 
responsibility for the contents of this 
Prospectus or the merits of the investment to 
which this Prospectus relates. 
No Shares or other securities will be allotted or 
issued on the basis of this Prospectus later 
than 13 months after the date of this 
Prospectus.  
No person is authorised to provide any 
information or make any representations 
about the Offer which is not contained in this 
Prospectus. Information or representations 
not contained in this Prospectus must not be 
relied on as authorised by the Company, or 
any other person, in connection with the Offer. 
Suitability of Investment & Risks 
This Prospectus provides information for 
investors to decide if they wish to invest in the 
Company. Read the document in its entirety. 
Examine the risk factors that could affect the 
financial performance of the Company. 
Consider these factors carefully in light of your 
personal financial circumstances. Seek 
professional advice from your accountant, 
stockbroker, lawyer or other professional 
adviser before deciding whether to invest. The 
Offer does not take into account any 
investment objectives, financial situation or 
needs of particular investors.  
An investment in the Company should be 
considered highly speculative.  
No offering where offering would be illegal 
The distribution of this Prospectus in 
jurisdictions outside Australia and New 
Zealand may be restricted by law and persons 
who come into possession of this Prospectus 
should seek advice on and observe any of 
those restrictions. Failure to comply with these 
restrictions may violate securities laws. 
Applicants who are resident in countries other 
than Australia and New Zealand should 
consult their professional advisers as to 
whether any governmental or other consents 
are required or whether any other formalities 
need to be considered and followed. 
This Prospectus does not constitute an offer in 
any place in which, or to any person to whom, 
it would not be lawful to make such an offer. It 
is important that investors read this 

Prospectus in its entirety and seek 
professional advice where necessary. 
No action has been taken to register or qualify 
the Securities offered under this Prospectus or 
the Offer, or to otherwise permit a public 
offering of the securities in any jurisdiction 
outside Australia and New Zealand. This 
Prospectus has been prepared for publication 
in Australia and New Zealand and may not be 
released or distributed in the United States of 
America. 
Electronic Prospectus 
This Prospectus is available electronically at 
www.sqxresources.com.  
Any person accessing the electronic version of 
this Prospectus for the purpose of making an 
investment in the Company must be an 
Australian or New Zealand resident and must 
only access the Prospectus from within 
Australia or New Zealand. Persons who 
access the electronic version of this 
Prospectus should ensure that they download 
and read the entire Prospectus. 
The Corporations Act prohibits any person 
passing on to another person an Application 
Form unless it is attached to a hard copy of 
this Prospectus or it accompanies the 
complete and unaltered version of this 
Prospectus. Any person may obtain a hard 
copy of this Prospectus free of charge by 
contacting the Company. If you have received 
this Prospectus as an electronic Prospectus, 
please ensure that you have received the 
entire Prospectus accompanied by the 
Application Form. If you have not, please 
contact the Company and the Company will 
send you, for free, at its election either a hard 
copy or a further electronic copy of this 
Prospectus or both. 
The Company reserves the right not to accept 
an Application Form from a person if it has 
reason to believe that when that person was 
given access to the electronic Application 
Form, it was not provided together with an 
electronic Prospectus and any relevant 
supplementary or replacement prospectus or 
any of those documents were incomplete or 
altered. 
Defined Terms 
Certain terms and abbreviations used in this 
Prospectus have defined meanings which are 
explained in the Glossary. 
Website 
No document or information included on the 
Company's or any third party's website is 
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incorporated by reference into this 
Prospectus. 
Privacy 
Please read the privacy information located in 
Section 5.21 of this Prospectus. By submitting 
an Application Form, you consent to the 
matters outlined in that Section. 
Forward-looking statements 
This Prospectus contains forward-looking 
statements which are identified by words such 
as ‘may’, ‘could’, ‘believes’, ‘estimates’, 
‘targets’, ‘hopes, ‘expects’, ‘intends’, ‘aimed at’ 
and other similar words that involve risks and 
uncertainties. 
These statements are based on an 
assessment of past and present economic 
and operating conditions and on a number of 
assumptions regarding future events and 
actions that, as at the date of this Prospectus, 
are expected to take place. 
Such forward-looking statements are not 
guarantees of future performance and involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, 
assumptions and other important factors, 
many of which are beyond the control of the 
Company, its Directors and management. 
Although the Company believes that the 
expectations reflected in the forward looking 
statements included in this Prospectus are 
reasonable, none of the Company, its 
Directors or officers and management, or any 
person named in this Prospectus, can give, or 
gives, any assurance that the results, 
performance or achievements expressed or 
implied by the forward-looking statements 
contained in this Prospectus will actually occur 
or that the assumptions on which those 
statements are based will prove to be correct 
or exhaustive beyond the date of their making. 
Investors are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on these forward-looking statements. 
Except to the extent required by law, the 
Company has no intention to update or revise 
forward looking statements, or to publish 
prospective financial information in the future, 
regardless of whether new information, future 
events or any other factors affect the 
information contained in this Prospectus. 
The forward-looking statements contained in 
this Prospectus are subject to various risk 
factors that could cause the Company's actual 
results to differ materially from the results 
expressed or anticipated in these statements. 
The key risk factors of investing in the 
Company are set out in Section 3 of this 
Prospectus. 
 
 

Currency 
Monetary amounts shown in the Prospectus 
are expressed in Australian dollars unless 
otherwise stated. 
Consent not sought for certain statements 
Statements made by, attributed to or based on 
statements by third parties have not been 
consented to for the purposes of section 729 
of the Corporations Act and are included in this 
Prospectus by the Company on the basis of 
ASIC Corporations (Consents to Statements) 
Instrument 2016/72 relief from the 
Corporations Act for statements used from 
books, journals or comparable publications. 
Competent Persons Statements 
The information included in Section 1 - 
Investment Overview, in Section 2 - Company 
and Project Overview and in Section 8 – 
Independent Geologist’s Report, insofar as 
they relate to exploration results and mineral 
resources, is based on information compiled 
by Paul Habermann. Paul Habermann has 
sufficient experience which is relevant to the 
style of mineralisation and type of deposit 
under consideration and to the activity which 
he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the 2012 edition of the 
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves’ (JORC Code). Paul 
Habermann is a consultant and shareholder of 
the Company. Paul Habermann consents to 
the inclusion of the information in these 
Sections of the Prospectus in the form and 
context in which it appears.  
The information in Section 8 – Independent 
Geologist’s Report, which relates to a 
technical assessment report of the Project, is 
based on information compiled by Simon 
Tear, Director of independent mining 
consultants, H&S Consultants Pty Ltd. Simon 
Tear has sufficient experience which is 
relevant to the style of mineralisation and type 
of deposit under consideration and to the 
activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a 
Practitioner as defined in the 2015 edition of 
the 'Australasian Code for the Public 
Reporting of Technical Assessments and 
Valuations of Mineral Assets (VALMIN Code). 
Simon Tear is a Director of H&SC Consultants 
Pty Ltd. Simon Tear consents to the inclusion 
of the information in these Sections of the 
Prospectus in the form and context in which it 
appears. 
Photographs and Diagrams  
Photographs used in this Prospectus without 
descriptions are only for illustration. Any 
people shown are not endorsing this 
Prospectus or its contents. Diagrams used in 
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this Prospectus may not be drawn to scale. 
The assets depicted in photographs in this 
Prospectus are not assets of the Company 
unless otherwise stated. 
Exposure Period 
The Corporations Act prohibits the Company 
from processing Applications under the Offer 
in the 7-day period after the date of 
lodgement of the Prospectus with ASIC 
(Exposure Period). This period may be 
extended by ASIC for a further period of up to 
7 days. The purpose of the Exposure Period 
is to enable this Prospectus to be examined 
by market participants prior to the raising of 

funds under the Offer. This Prospectus will be 
made generally available to Australian and 
New Zealand residents during the Exposure 
Period, without the Application Form, by 
being posted on the following website: 
www.sqxresources.com. 
Applications received during the Exposure 
Period will not be processed until after the 
expiry of the Exposure Period. No preference 
will be conferred on any Applications received 
during the Exposure Period. 
THIS PROSPECTUS IS IMPORTANT AND 
SHOULD BE READ IN ITS ENTIRETY.
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Letter from the Chairman 

Dear Investor, 

On behalf of the Board of South-East Queensland Exploration Limited (“SQX” or “the Company”) 
(to be renamed SQX Resources Limited), I take pleasure in presenting this Prospectus and 
inviting you to become a Shareholder in the Company. 

SQX is a modern mineral exploration company dedicated to delivering shareholder value by 
building a portfolio of exploration, development, and operating assets. The opportunity exists for 
SQX to participate in a new era of exploration, employing traditional techniques together with new 
technologies applied to existing data to identify prospective targets.  

The Company’s business strategy involves near-term exploration for mineral resources that have 
the potential to drive value for Shareholders, with the longer-term aim of developing and 
operating a suite of economic mining assets. 

SQX’s current focus is on copper and gold mineralisation at its Ollenburgs and Scrub Paddock 
Prospects, which are located in the underexplored Esk Basin in southeast Queensland and 
situated near major regional infrastructure and population centres. Both Prospects feature known 
mineralisation and historical mine workings. The Directors believe that these Prospects are highly 
prospective, warrant further exploration using modern exploration methods and can be efficiently 
tested by the Company’s experienced team. 
Identified as a potential gold-copper porphyry, the Scrub Paddock Prospect features more than 
20 mine workings and an area of comparable scale to Cadia/Ridgeway. Soil sampling and drilling 
have already confirmed gold and copper mineralisation; the extent of this mineralisation, both 
along the strike of the surface anomaly and also the depth, is unknown. A recently identified 
anomaly identified by induced polarisation (“IP”) survey sits just beneath existing drillholes. The 
Company intends to drill these high priority targets immediately upon listing, with the aim of 
defining an economic mineral resource.  

The Ollenburgs Prospect hosts potential for a copper-gold porphyry. Featuring several copper / 
gold / silver mine workings, an anomaly visible on aeromagnetic mapping, a surface anomaly 
evidenced by rock-chip and soil sampling across approximately 300m x 50m and no historical 
drilling, the Company will expand soil sampling, undertake IP surveying and, if justified, follow up 
with exploration drilling. 

The Board is excited to take the Company and its prospects to the next stage of their 
development and to gain exposure to copper, given current market conditions. Copper is 
expected to face large supply deficits mid-decade, given a surge in demand on the back of the 
green transition and sticky supply1.   

An experienced Board and Management team has been assembled with a diverse range of 
qualifications and skillsets to deliver on the Company’s business strategy. Expertise and 
experience includes exploration geology, technical and economic assessment, corporate finance, 
corporate law, corporate governance, and operational planning, providing the necessary 
foundations to build a listed portfolio of exploration, development and operating metallurgical 
assets. 

The primary purpose of the Offer is to provide funds to expand exploration activities at the 
Prospects, with the goal of defining a mineral resource and ultimately developing through to 
production. The Board may also elect to acquire additional projects on an opportunistic basis. 

Pursuant to this Prospectus, the Company is seeking to raise $5,000,000 by the issue of 
25,000,000 Shares at an issue price of $0.20 per Share, with one free attaching unlisted Loyalty 
Option (exercisable at 30 cents and expiring 36 months after issue), for every 2 Shares issued.  

 
1 “Copper is the new oil”, Goldman Sachs Commodities Research, 2021 
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Investors should note that the Company is an early-stage mineral exploration and development 
company, and that any investment made in the Company should be considered highly 
speculative. An investment in the Company is subject to risks, including Company-specific risks 
and general risks. Detailed information about these key risks is set out in Section 3, which I 
suggest you read carefully. Investors should seek advice prior to making any investment decision 
regarding the Company.  

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I invite you to subscribe for Shares in the Company and look 
forward to sharing in what I believe will be an exciting and prosperous future for the Company. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Bryan Granzien 
Non-Executive Chairman 
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Key Offer Information 

Key Dates - Indicative Timetable 1 

Event Date 
Lodgement of Prospectus with ASIC 30 November 2022 
Opening Date of the Offer 7 December 2022 
Closing Date of the Offer 14 December 2022 
Issue of new Shares and Loyalty Options under 
the Offer 

13 January 2023 

Despatch of holding statements to Shareholders 16 January 2023 
Expected date for quotation on ASX 19 January 2023 

1 The above dates are indicative only and may change without notice. The Exposure Period may be extended by 
ASIC by not more than 7 days pursuant to section 727(3) of the Corporations Act. The Company reserves the right 
to extend the Closing Date or close the Offer early without prior notice. The Company also reserves the right not to 
proceed with the Offer at any time before the issue of Shares to Applicants. 

Key Offer Statistics 9 

Amount to be raised under the Offer (before costs) $5,000,000 
Shares offered 25,000,000 
Price of securities under the Offer 
 

Shares 
Loyalty Options 

$0.20 
Free 

Percentage of Shares held by existing Shareholders following 
completion of the Offer 1 

20.0% 

Indicative market capitalisation upon completion of the Offer 2 $6,250,000 
Total shares on issue on completion of the Offer 3 31,250,000 
Existing Options on issue on completion of the Offer 4  3,125,000 
Director and Management Options on issue on completion of the Offer 5 3,350,000 
Performance Rights on issue on completion of the Offer 6 2,525,000 
Loyalty Options on issue on completion of the Offer 7 12,500,000 
Lead Manager Options on issue on completion of the Offer 8 3,335,478 

Notes: 
1. Refer to Section 4.4 for details of the Directors' interests in the Company's securities, Section 5.7 for 
information of the Company's capital structure, Section 5.18 for arrangements pertaining to restrictions and 
escrow on the Company's securities. 
2. Market capitalisation is determined by multiplying the total number of Shares on issue by the price at which the 
Shares trade on the ASX from time to time. In the table above, the market capitalisation is calculated at the issue 
price of each Share under the Offer, being $0.20. Please note that there is no guarantee that the Shares will be 
trading at $0.20 upon the Company listing. 
3 Refer to Section 10.2 for information about the rights attaching to Shares.  The number of Shares represented in 
the table assumes that the Share Split is approved at the Company's General Meeting called for 15 December 
2022. Refer to Section 5.8 for details of the Company's substantial shareholders as at the date of this Prospectus. 
4. Refer to Section 10.3 for the key terms of the Existing Options. 
5. Refer to Sections 4.6 and 10.5 for the key terms of the Director and Management Options. 
6. Refer to Section 10.8 for the terms and conditions of the Performance Rights. 
7. Refer to Section 10.4 for the key terms of the Loyalty Options. 
8. Refer to Section 10.6 for the key terms of the Lead Manager Options. 
9. Refer to Section 5.7 for further details relating to the proposed capital structure of the Company. 
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1. Investment Overview 

Question Response Further 
Info 

Company 

Who is the 
issuer of this 
Prospectus? 

South-East Queensland Exploration Limited ACN 659 090 338 
(to be renamed SQX Resources Limited). 

Section 2 

Who is the 
Company and 
what does it 
do? 

The Company was incorporated on 2 May 2022 for the purpose 
of pursuing opportunities in the resources sector designed to 
add shareholder value by acquiring, exploring, evaluating and 
exploiting mineral resource projects.   
Prior to admission to the Official List, the Company will acquire 
all the shares of Ollenburgs Pty Ltd pursuant to the Ollenburgs 
Acquisition Agreement. 

Section 2 

What are the 
Prospects in 
which the 
Company 
intends to hold 
an interest? 

The Company (through its subsidiary) will hold EPM 27257 (the 
Tenement) upon admission to the Official List of ASX, which is 
comprised of the: 

(a) Scrub Paddock Prospect; and 

(b) Ollenburgs Prospect, 
both located 37km NE of Nanango and 190km NW of Brisbane, 
Queensland within EPM 27257 

Section 2.4 

Section 8 
Section 9 

 

Business Model 

What is the 
Company’s 
business 
model? 

The Company seeks to explore and if appropriate, develop and 
operate its mineral Prospects. The Company may also seek 
additional tenements in the future if its Directors consider that 
they will add additional value to the Company at the material 
time. 

Section 2.1  

Section 2.3 

 

What are the 
key business 
objectives and 
strategies of 
the Company? 

The Company’s business plan and the purpose of the Offer is to 
provide the Company with funding to: 

(a) undertake capital-efficient exploration activities; 
(b) evaluate with a view to operating economic mining 

assets; and 

(c) opportunistically identify and acquire additional projects. 
See Section 2 for details of the proposed exploration programs 
on the Prospects and the Independent Geologists Report in 
Section 8 for further details of the Prospects, including 
geological information and previous activities.  

Sections 
2.3 and 8 
 

 



 

5 

Question Response Further 
Info 

What are the 
key 
dependencies 
of the 
Company’s 
business 
model? 

The key dependencies of the Company’s business model 
include: 

(a) there being sufficient capital available to the Company to 
carry out its exploration and development plans, prior to the 
Company being in a position to generate income; 

(b) maintaining title to the Company's current and future 
projects; 

(c) retaining and where necessary, recruiting key personnel 
skilled in the mining and resources sector and in particular, 
mineral exploration; and 

(d) the market price of minerals remaining higher than the 
Company’s costs of any future production (assuming 
successful exploration by the Company). 

Section 2.3 
 

What are the 
key 
agreements in 
relation to the 
Company’s 
projects? 

The Ollenburgs Acquisition Agreement which is to complete 
prior to admission to the Official List. 

Section 
10.1  

Key advantages and key risks 

What are the 
key advantages 
of an 
investment in 
the Company? 

An investment in the Company offers investors the chance to 
gain an interest in current and future projects, through the 
Company, at the low end of the value curve and hence, 
exposure to the potential upside of the projects, subject to the 
risks identified in Section 3. 

Sections 3 
and 8 

What are the 
Key risks of an 
investment in 
the Company? 

Investors should be aware that subscribing for Shares in the 
Company involves a number of risks. The risk factors set out in 
Section 3, and other general risks applicable to all investments 
in listed shares may affect the value of the Company’s 
Securities in the future. Accordingly, an investment in the 
Company should be considered highly speculative. This Section 
summarises only some of the risks which apply to an investment 
in the Company. Investors should refer to Section 3 for a more 
detailed summary of relevant risks. 

Specific risks of an investment in the Company 
(a) No profit to date and limited operating history: Having 

been incorporated on 2 May 2022, the Company has a 
limited operating history. It is therefore not possible to 
evaluate its prospects based on past performance. Since 
the Company intends to invest in exploration of its 
Prospects, the Directors anticipate that the Company will 
continue to make losses in the foreseeable future. 

Section 3 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
Section 
3.2(a) 
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Question Response Further 
Info 

(b) No defined resources: The Company, at this time, does 
not have any identified mineral resources or reserves and 
previous exploration over the areas covered by the 
Prospects is limited. There is no assurance that 
exploration of the Prospects will result in the discovery of 
an economic ore deposit.  

(c) Exploration and development risks: Mineral 
exploration and development is a speculative and high-
risk undertaking that may be impeded by circumstances 
and factors beyond the control of the Company. As the 
Company is an early-stage exploration company, there 
can be no assurance that exploration of its Prospects, or 
any other exploration tenure that may be acquired in the 
future, will result in the discovery of an economic ore 
deposit. Even if an apparently viable mineral resource is 
identified, there is no guarantee that it can be 
economically exploited. This risk is compounded by the 
fact that the Company only currently holds a single 
granted tenement. 

(d) Resource Estimates and results of studies: In the 
event that the Company successfully delineates a 
resource on any of its tenements, that resource estimate 
will be an expression of judgment based on knowledge, 
experience and industry practice. By their very nature, 
resource estimates are imprecise and depend to some 
extent on interpretation, which may prove to be 
inaccurate. If the Company undertakes scoping, pre-
feasibility or definitive feasibility studies that confirm the 
economic viability of a project, there is still no guarantee 
that the project will be successfully brought into 
production as assumed or within the estimated 
parameters in the study (e.g. operational costs and 
commodity prices) once production commences. 

(e) Additional requirements for capital: The funds raised 
under the Offer are considered sufficient to meet the 
exploration and evaluation objectives of the Company 
over the first two years, as set out in Section 5.7. 
Additional funding may be required in the event 
exploration costs exceed the Company’s estimates and 
will be required once those funds are depleted. The 
Company may seek to raise further funds through equity 
or debt financing or a mix of them. There can be no 
assurance that additional finance will be available when 
needed or, if available, the terms of the financing may not 
be favourable to the Company and involve substantial 
dilution to Shareholders. 

(f) Potential for dilution: On completion of the Offer and 
the subsequent issue of Shares and Options, the number 
of Shares in the Company will increase from 6,250,000 to 
31,250,000 (assuming that the Existing Options, Loyalty 
Options, Director and Management Options and the Lead 
Manager Options are not exercised). On this basis, 

Section 
3.2(b) 

 

 
Section 
3.2(c) 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
Section 
3.2(d) 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Section 
3.2(d) 
Section 
3.2(e) 
Section 5.7 

 

 
 

 
 

Section 
3.2(g) 
Section 
3.2(h) 
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Question Response Further 
Info 

existing Shareholders should note that if they do not 
participate in the Offer (and even if they do), their 
holdings may be considerably diluted (as compared to 
their holdings and number of Shares on issue as at the 
date of this Prospectus). Further capital raisings in the 
future may dilute Shareholders further. 

(g) Land Access and Native Title: There is a substantial 
level of regulation and restriction on the ability of 
exploration and mining companies to have access to land 
in Australia. Negotiations with both Native Title and 
landowners/occupiers in respect of native title, cultural 
heritage and access issues are generally required before 
the Company can access land for exploration or mining 
activities. Inability to gain access, or delays experienced 
in accessing the land may impact on the Company’s 
activities. 

(h) Title risk: The Company's Tenement permits the 
Company to undertake only exploration on the Tenement. 
If the Company successfully delineates an economic 
resource on this exploration license, it will need to apply 
for a mining permit to undertake development and 
mining. There is no guarantee that the Company will be 
granted a mining permit, if sought. Each exploration 
license is subject to periodic renewal and there is no 
guarantee that renewal will be granted in each case 
(although the Directors have no reason to believe that 
renewals will not be granted). 

(i) Crown Land and other restrictions: There may be 
restrictions imposed on the Tenement that make access 
to parts of it unavailable to the Company, regardless of 
their potential economic value to the Company. In this 
regard, please refer to the Schedule to the Solicitor's 
Report on the Tenement in Section 9. It is not possible, 
without further exploration of the Tenement, to determine 
the potential impact of these restrictions on the value of 
the Tenement. 

(j) Commodity market and exchange rate risks: The 
copper and gold markets are subject to global supply and 
demand fluctuations. These fluctuations in supply and 
demand may lead to lower copper and/or gold prices, 
which in turn may have an impact on the Company 
finances as well as the potential viability of Prospects and 
the value of the Company's Securities. The value of the 
Company’s assets and potential earnings may be 
affected by fluctuations in commodity prices generally 
and exchange rates, such as the USD and AUD 
denominated gold and copper prices and the AUD / USD 
exchange rate. 

(k) Environmental Risks: The Company’s exploration 
programs and development activities expose the 
Company to liability for environmental damage. 

 
 

 

 
Section 
3.2(i) 
Section 
3.2(l)  

 
 

 

 
Section 
3.2(j) 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Section 
3.2(m) 
Section 9 

 

 
 

Section 
3.2(p) 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Section 
3.2(n) 
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Question Response Further 
Info 

(l) Failure to Satisfy Expenditure Commitments: The 
exploration license carries with it annual expenditure and 
reporting commitments, as well as other conditions 
requiring compliance. Consequently, the Company could 
lose title to or its interest in the Tenement if these license 
conditions are not met or if insufficient funds are available 
to meet expenditure commitments. 

Additional key risks are disclosed in Section 3 of this 
Prospectus, including conditions to the Tenement, metallurgical 
issues, royalties, new projects and acquisitions, licences, 
permits and approvals, operational risks, environmental risks, 
reliance on key personnel, agents and contractor risks, 
rehabilitation liability, climate change laws and measures, 
government policy risk, competition risk, the limitations of 
insurance cover, health and safety risk, regulatory and taxation 
risk and the risk of litigation. 

General risks 
The Company's business is also subject to general risk factors. 
Such risks apply to companies generally but may materially 
adversely impact the Company and its business or the value of 
its Securities. More information about such risks is set out in 
Section 3.3. Some of these risks include: 
(a) Investment and share market risk - prices of the 

Company's Shares may rise and fall as a result of 
factors beyond the control of the Company and may 
trade for a price lower than the Offer Price; 

(b) Economic risk - general economic conditions may 
adversely impact the value of the Company and its 
securities;  

(c) Changes in taxation or other laws - changes in tax 
laws and policies may affect the tax consequences of an 
investment in the Company; 

(d) Accounting standards - accounting standards may 
change in a manner adversely affecting the Company; 
and 

(e) Force majeure - events beyond the Company's control 
may adversely impact the Company and its operations. 

The above is not intended to be an exhaustive list of the risk to 
which the Company or investors in the Company are or may be 
exposed. The factors specifically referred to above and other 
risks may in the future materially affect the viability or 
performance of the Company and the value of its Securities. 

Section 
3.2(k) 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Section 3.3 

Is there an 
Independent 
Technical 
Report by a 
geologist 

The Company engaged H&S Consultants Pty Ltd to prepare the 
Independent Geologist's Report on the Tenement, which is set 
out in Section 8. This report addresses the geological 
characteristics and prospectivity of the Company's Prospects.  

Section 8 
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The report is a technical assessment report and not a valuation 
report. 

Is there a 
tenure report 
for our 
Projects? 

The Solicitors’ Report on the Tenement provides information on: 
(a) details of the Tenement and the Company's interests in the 

Tenement; 
(b) an overview of relevant laws affecting the Tenement; and 

(c) the status of the Tenement. 

Section 9 
 

Directors and Key Management Personnel 

Who are the 
Directors of the 
Company? 

Board 
The Board of the Company is comprised of: 
(a) Bryan Granzien – Non-Executive Chairman 

Bryan is Managing Director of Hawsons Iron Ltd, an 
emerging iron ore producer. He is a highly regarded 
executive, with extensive leadership experience, 
demonstrated change management expertise and success 
in ASX listed and unlisted environments across mining, 
agribusiness, information technology and steel 
manufacturing industries.   
Following a range of senior executive roles with MIM 
Holdings Ltd and Grainco Australia Pty Ltd, Bryan held 
General Manager positions at both Neumann Steel Pty Ltd 
and NatSteel Australia Pty Ltd, was a Director / CEO on 
Tata Steel Limited’s Australian subsidiaries Tata Steel 
Resources Australia Pty Ltd and Kalimati Coal Co. Pty Ltd 
and was CEO of the ASX listed Automotive Solutions Group 
Pty Ltd. 
Bryan holds a Bachelor of Business, is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and is a fellow of 
the CEO Institute.  

(b) Tim Cooper – Non-Executive Director 
Tim has over 17 years of natural resources experience with 
a broad range of operational, technical and consulting 
expertise.  
After starting his career in exploration and mining geology, 
Tim transitioned into mining consultancy, culminating in 
Principal Mining Consultant roles at MEC Mining Pty Ltd and 
Precision Mining Pty Ltd. He is currently the Technical 
Director for MPX, a private company with a successful track 
record of identifying, acquiring and investing in mineral 
exploration across Australia. 
Tim holds a Bachelor of Science (Geology) from the 
University of Newcastle. 

Section 4 
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(c) Brent Van Staden – Non-Executive Director 
Brent is a Partner and Head of Capital Markets in the 
corporate team of Colin Biggers & Paisley Lawyers.   
He has considerable experience in all aspects of corporate 
and mining law, advising clients on corporate governance, 
capital raising, mergers and acquisitions in the mineral 
resources sector. 
Brent holds a Masters of Law in Taxation, a Masters of 
Commercial Law and a Diploma of Legal Practice. He is 
admitted to practice in Queensland and New South Wales, 
as well as the United Kingdom and South Africa. He also 
has a Post Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate 
Governance.  

Further details on the experience and qualifications of each of 
these Directors are set out in Section 4. 

Management 
The Management team consists of: 

(a) Mark Purcell – Chief Executive Officer  
Mark brings a blend of experience in the mining and 
corporate finance industries across a variety of leadership, 
technical and corporate roles. 
From 2017-2022, Mark gained experience at both 
Rothschild & Co Australia Ltd and Goldman Sachs Australia 
Services Pty Ltd across mergers and acquisitions of publicly 
listed and private metals and mining companies, equity 
capital markets, derivatives and other financial advisory 
situations.  

Mark also spent nine years in various roles at Peabody 
Energy Australia Coal Pty Ltd and Rio Tinto Coal Australia 
Pty Ltd. The majority of these roles were in leadership 
positions after developing his technical mining engineering 
skillset.  
Mark holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Mining) from the 
University of Queensland and a Master of Business 
Administration (Executive) from the Australian Graduate 
School of Management.  

(b) Craig McPherson – Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary 
Craig is a Director of M+H Private and has 25 years’ 
experience advising businesses in all fields, specialising in 
business advisory and corporate finance. His career has 
spanned both professional practice and commercial areas.  
Before co-founding M+H Private, Craig was a partner at a 
mid-tier accounting firm and has also held executive roles 
with ASX and TSX listed companies as Chief Financial 
Officer, Director and Company Secretary.  
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Craig continues to maintain an active role in various ASX 
listed and unlisted public and private companies. 
Craig currently acts as Company Secretary for a number of 
ASX-listed and unlisted public and private companies. 

(c) Ian Kelso – Exploration Manager 
Ian is an experienced geologist with a career spanning over 
30 years in exploration and mining geology working for 
companies including PanAust Ltd, Pasminco Ltd and CRA 
(Rio Tinto Ltd). 

Ian participated in the discovery of the North Portia copper-
gold deposit in the Curnamona Province in South Australia 
and new zinc-lead-silver ore shoots at the Endeavour Mine 
at Cobar, New South Wales.  
Ian holds a Bachelor of Applied Science (Hons) from the 
University of Technology Sydney and a Master of 
Engineering Science from the University of New South 
Wales. 

Other than the Directors, Company Secretary and Exploration 
Manager listed above, the Company does not have any other 
key management personnel. 

The Company has engaged with and has access to competent 
and experienced technical personnel on a contract basis to help 
manage the exploration activities of the Company as well as 
corporate administration. 

What are the 
Directors' 
interests in the 
Company? 

Each Director's remuneration and their respective relevant 
interests in the Securities of the Company are set out in the 
table below: 

Director Remuneration 
p.a. 

Existing 
Shares 

% 
(Undiluted) 
at Listing 

Director and 
Management 

Options 2 

Performance 
Rights 2 

Bryan 
Granzien 

$36,000 0 0 1,350,000 750,000 

Tim Cooper $30,000 105,4881 0.34% 250,000 300,000 

Brent Van 
Staden 

$30,000 0 0 250,000 300,000 

1. Held by an entity associated with Tim Cooper. Assumes the proposed 
Share Split is approved by Shareholders - refer to Section 10.12(a). 
2. Issued upon admission to the Official List of the ASX. 

Sections 
4.3, 4.5,  
4.6 and 
10.12(a). 

What is the 
Company’s 
policy 
regarding 
related party 
arrangements? 

The Company’s policy in respect of related party arrangements 
is: 
(a) a Director with a material personal interest in a matter is 

required to give notice to the other directors before such a 
matter is considered by the Board; and 

(b) for the Board to consider such a matter, the Director who 
has a material personal interest must not be present while 

Section 
4.10 
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the matter is being considered at the meeting and cannot 
vote on the matter. 

Details of the Company's policy for arrangements with related 
parties are set out in Section 4.10. 

Are there any 
related party 
transactions 
and benefits? 

Further details of current arrangements between the Company 
and its Directors and other related parties, include: 

(a) the Ollenburgs Acquisition Agreement (refer to Section 
10.1(e)); 

(b) an Executive Services Agreement or letters of appointment 
with each of its Directors (refer to Section 10.1(a)(i) for 
details);  

(c) the seed loan agreements with MPX and certain other 
parties (refer to Section 10.1(f)); 

(a) Deeds of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with the 
Directors on standard terms (refer to Section 10.1(a)(i) for 
details);  

(b) Issue of Existing Options and Director and Management 
Options (refer to Sections 4.6 and 10.1); and 

(c) Issue of Performance Rights to each of the Directors and 
some members of key management (refer to Section 4.7 
and 10.1) 

Sections 
4.6, 4.7,   
4.10 and  
10.1 

Financial position 

What is the 
Company's 
financial 
position? 

The Company was incorporated on 2 May 2022 and has not 
earned any revenue from its activities. 
The Company is an early-stage exploration company seeking to 
explore and develop the Prospects, which have not yet been 
commercialised. Accordingly, the Company cannot provide any 
meaningful key financial information or ratios relating to market 
performance, profitability or financial stability. 
The Company currently has borrowings of $300,000 with a 
further undrawn facility of $150,000, details of which are set out 
in Section 10.1(f), which will be repaid from the proceeds of the 
Offer. 
The Company's financial information, including a pro forma 
statement of financial position, is set out in Section 6. The 
Investigating Accountant's Report is set out in Section 7. 
Investors should refer to the pro forma statement of financial 
position for the effect of the capital raising represented by the 
Offer on the financial position of the Company, post ASX listing. 

The Company intends to apply the proceeds of the Offer as 
outlined in Section 5.3. 

Sections 
5.3, 6, 7 
and 10.1(f) 
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Will the 
Company be 
adequately 
funded after 
completion of 
the Offer? 

The Directors are satisfied that upon completion of the Offer, the 
Company will have sufficient working capital to carry out its 
objectives as stated in this Prospectus. 

 

The Offer 

What is the 
Offer? 

The Offer comprises an offer of: 
(a) 25,000,000 Shares at an issue price of $0.20 per Share to 

raise $5,000,000 (before costs of the Offer); and 

(b) 12,500,000 free attaching Loyalty Options, on the basis of 
1 Loyalty Option for every 2 Shares issued under the Offer.  
Each Loyalty Option is exercisable at $0.30 and expires 36 
months from the date of issue (unless exercised). 

This Offer is made to the general public. 

Sections 
5.1 and 
10.4 

What is the 
Offer Price? 

The Offer Price is 20 cents per Share under the Offer.  The 
Loyalty Options are issued for nil consideration.   

Section 
5.1(b) 

What is the 
Subscription 
Amount? 

The minimum amount which must be raised under the Offer is 
$5,000,000 (25,000,000 Shares). 
If the Company has not received valid applications for the 
entirety of the Offer within three months after the date of this 
Prospectus, it may either deal with any applications received in 
accordance with section 724 of the Corporations Act or extend 
that period for a further three months by lodging a refresh 
prospectus pursuant to relief provided in ASIC Regulatory Guide 
254. 

Section 
5.1(b) 

 

Is the Company 
accepting over-
subscriptions? 

The Company does not intend to accept oversubscriptions. Section 5.1 

What are the 
objectives of 
the Offer? 

The objectives of the Offer are to: 
(a) raise capital to fund exploration and development activities 

on the Prospects in accordance with the exploration and 
development budgets as set out in Section 5.3 and the 
Independent Geologist's Report in Section 8;  

(b) list on the ASX, which will provide the Company with 
improved access to capital markets for future funding 
needs;  

Section 
5.1(c) 
 



 

14 

Question Response Further 
Info 

(c) enhance the public and financial profile of the Company to 
facilitate further growth of the Company’s business; and 

(d) provide working capital for the Company. 

Is the Offer 
underwritten? 

The Offer is not underwritten. Section 5.2 

Are there any 
escrow 
arrangements? 

Yes, there are compulsory escrow arrangements under the ASX 
Listing Rules. 
None of the Shares or Loyalty Options issued pursuant to the 
Offer are expected to be restricted securities (i.e. none are 
expected to be subject to escrow).  

All of the Securities issued to the Directors are expected to be 
restricted securities (i.e. they will be subject to ASX escrow 
restrictions).  

The Company anticipates that upon Listing, approximately 
6,250,000 Shares, 3,125,000 Existing Options, 3,335,478 Lead 
Manager Options, 3,350,000 Director and Management Options 
and 2,525,000 Performance Rights will be classified as 
restricted securities by ASX, which Shares will comprise 
approximately 20% of all Shares on issue at completion of the 
Offer and comprise all of the Director and Management Options, 
Existing Options, Lead Manager Options and Performance 
Rights on issue at Completion of the Offer.   
The Company confirms its ‘free float’ (the percentage of the 
Shares that are not restricted and are held by shareholders who 
are not related parties (or their associates) of the Company) at 
the time of listing will be not less than 20% in compliance with 
ASX Listing Rule 1.1 Condition 7.  

Section 
5.18 

What is the 
effect of the 
Offer on the 
capital 
structure of the 
Company?  

The effect of the Offer on the capital structure of the Company 
will be to increase the number of Shares on issue, as set out in 
Section 5.7 and increase the Company's cash as set out 
Sections 6.6 and 6.7. 

Sections 
5.7, 6.6 
and 6.7 

 

Are there 
arrangements 
with brokers? 

PAC Partners Securities Pty Ltd is Lead Manager to the Offer.   

The Company will pay the Lead Manager $300,000 cash and 
issue 3,335,478 Lead Manager Options. 
The material terms of the Lead Manager Mandate with PAC 
Partners Securities Pty Ltd is summarised in Section 10.1(a). 

Section 
10.1  

What is the 
Lead Manager 
Offer? 

The Prospectus also includes a separate Lead Manager Offer of 
Lead Manager Options to be issued to the Lead Manager as 
part considerations for services in connection with the Offer. 

Section 
5.20 
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The Lead Manager Offer is being made under this Prospectus to 
remove the need for any additional disclosure document to be 
issued upon the sale of any Lead Manager Options or the sale 
of any underlying Shares on exercise of the Lead Manager 
Options. 
The Company has agreed to issue the Lead Manager 3,335,478 
Lead Manager Options in accordance with the terms of the Lead 
Manager Agreement. 

How do I apply 
for      Shares 
under the 
Offer? 

Application Forms must be completed in accordance with their 
instructions and must be accompanied by online payment as 
indicated.  

Section 
5.11 

What is the 
minimum 
investment 
under the 
Offer? 

The minimum investment under the Offer is $2,000 (10,000 
Shares), with additional investments to be made in $500 (2,500 
Shares) increments.   

Section 
5.11(c) 

When will I 
know if my 
Application is 
successful? 

A holding statement or CHESS statement confirming your 
allocation under the Offer will be sent to you if your Application is 
successful in accordance with the Indicative Timetable. 

Section 
5.12 

What is the 
allocation 
policy for the 
Offer? 

Directors, in conjunction with the Lead Manager, will allocate 
Shares under the Offer at their sole discretion with a view to 
ensuring an appropriate Shareholder base for the Company 
going forward (subject to any regulatory requirements).  
There is no assurance that any Applicant will be allocated the 
number of Shares for which it has applied or any Shares at all.  
The Company reserves the right to reject any Application or to 
scale back any application to a lesser number of Shares than 
those applied for. Where the number of Shares issued is less 
than the number applied for, surplus Application Monies will be 
refunded (without interest) as soon as reasonably practicable 
after the Closing Date. 
Securities under the Offer are expected to be allotted on the 
Issue Date. It is the responsibility of Applicants to determine 
their allocation prior to trading in the Securities issued under the 
Offer. Applicants who sell Securities before they receive their 
holding statements do so at their own risk.  

Section 
5.15 

Will the Shares 
be quoted? 

The Company will apply to the ASX for official quotation of the 
Shares offered under this Prospectus (except Restricted 
Securities) under the trading symbol: SQX. 

Section 
5.13 
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Who is eligible 
to participate in 
the Offer? 

The Offer is open to all investors with a registered address in 
Australia or New Zealand. 

No action has been taken to register or qualify the Securities, or 
the Offer, or otherwise to permit the offering of Securities in any 
jurisdiction outside of Australia and New Zealand. 

Section 5.1 

Use of Proceeds 

How will the 
proceeds of the 
Offer be used? 

The table below sets out the proposed use of the proceeds from 
the Offer (and estimated available cash at the close of the 
Offer). 

Source of funds  Subscription 
Amount 

Cash on hand at 30 June 2022  $226,000 
Cash from acquisition of 
Ollenburgs Pty Ltd 

 $100 

Seed Funds raised since 30 June 
2022 to date of lodgment of 
Prospectus 

 $75,000 

Proceeds from the Offer  $5,000,000 
Cash expenses of the Offer (net 
of GST Recoverable) 

 $(696,001) 

Repayment of seed loans  $(300,000) 
Net cash after costs of the 
Offer 

 $4,305,099 

The following table shows the intended use of funds in the two-
year period following Listing: 

Use of net proceeds Subscription 
Amount 

% 

Exploration and 
development 

$3,023,787 70% 

Administration costs $1,113,485 26% 

Working capital $167,827 4% 

Total funds allocated $4,305,099 100% 

The above table is a statement of current intentions as of the date of this 
Prospectus. As with any budget, intervening events (including exploration 
success or failure) and new circumstances have the potential to affect the 
manner in which the funds are ultimately applied. The Board reserves the 
right to alter the way funds are applied on this basis. 

Section 
5.3, 8 and  
10.16 
 

Additional Information 
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Is there any 
brokerage, 
commission or 
stamp duty 
payable by 
applicants? 

No brokerage, commission or duty is payable by Applicants on 
the acquisition of Shares under the Offer. 

Section 
5.11 

What are the 
taxation 
implications of 
investing in 
Shares? 

Shares may be subject to Australian tax on dividends and 
possibly capital gains tax on a future disposal of Shares issued 
under this Prospectus. 
The tax consequences of any investment in Shares will depend 
upon an investor’s particular circumstances. Applicants should 
obtain their own tax advice prior to deciding whether to 
subscribe for Shares offered under this Prospectus. 

Section 
10.18 

What are the 
corporate 
governance 
principles and 
policies of the 
Company? 

To the extent appropriate and practicable, in light of the 
Company’s size and nature, the Company has adopted the 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th 
Edition) as published by ASX Corporate Governance Council 
(Recommendations). 

The Company’s main corporate governance policies and 
practices as at the date of this Prospectus are outlined in 
Sections 4.11 of this Prospectus and the Company’s compliance 
and departures from the Recommendations are set out in 
Section 4.12. 

In addition, the Company’s full Corporate Governance Plan is 
available from the Company’s website www.sqxresources.com. 
Prior to listing on the ASX, the Company will announce its key 
corporate governance policies and practices and the Company’s 
compliance and departures from the Recommendations. 

Sections  
4.11 and  
4.12 

What are the 
important 
dates of the 
Offer?  
 

Event Date 
Lodgement of Prospectus with 
ASIC 

30 November 2022 

Opening Date of the Offer 7 December 2022 
Closing Date of the Offer 14 December 2022 
Issue of new Shares under the 
Offer 

13 January 2023 

Despatch of holding statements 
to Shareholders 

16 January 2023 

Expected date for quotation on 
ASX 

19 January 2023 

The above dates are indicative only and may change without notice. The 
Exposure Period may be extended by the ASIC by not more than 7 days 
pursuant to Section 727(3) of the Corporations Act. The Company reserves 
the right to extend the Closing Date or close the Offer early without prior 

 

http://www.sqxresources.com/
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notice. The Company also reserves the right not to proceed with the Offer 
at any time before the issue of Shares to Applicants. 

What rights 
and liabilities 
attach to the 
Shares being 
offered?  

The rights and liabilities attaching to the Company's Shares are 
described in Section 10.2.  

Section 
10.2 

What rights 
and liabilities 
attach to the 
Options? 

The rights and liabilities attaching to the Loyalty Options, 
Existing Options, Director and Management Options and Lead 
Manager Options are described in Sections 10.3 to 10.7 to  
(read with Section 4.6 in relation to Director and Management 
Options).   

Section 4.6 
and 
Sections 
10.3 to 
10.7 

What rights 
and liabilities 
attach to the 
Performance 
Rights? 

The rights and liabilities attaching to the Performance Rights are 
described in Sections 10.8 (read with Section 4.7). 

Sections 
4.7 and 
10.8 

What is the 
Company's 
dividend 
policy? 

The Company does not expect to pay dividends in the near 
future, as its focus will primarily be on exploration of the 
Prospects and future acquisitions. 

Section 
10.11 

Where can I 
find more 
information? 

(a) By speaking to your sharebroker, solicitor, accountant or 
other independent professional adviser; or 

(b) By contacting the Share Registry on the Offer helpline on 
+61 1800 426 150. 

 

This section is a summary only and not intended to provide full information for investors intending 
to apply for Shares offered pursuant to this Prospectus. This Prospectus should be read and 
considered in its entirety. 
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2. Overview of the Company and its Project 

2.1 The Company 

South-East Queensland Exploration Limited (to be renamed SQX Resources Limited) 
(Company) was registered in Australia on 2 May 2022 for the purposes of listing on the 
ASX as a mineral exploration and development company. Pursuant to the Ollenburgs 
Acquisition Agreement, the Company will acquire all the shares of Ollenburgs Pty Ltd. 

The Company was founded by Mining Projects Accelerator Pty Ltd (MPX). MPX is the 
Company’s largest shareholder and is also the vendor of the subsidiary to be acquired by 
the Company pursuant to the above Ollenburgs Acquisition Agreement. 

MPX identifies, acquires and invests in mineral exploration assets across Australia, 
generating a portfolio of projects and an acquisition pipeline of underexplored tenements 
in historical mining regions with a lack of modern exploration. The Company is the third 
commercialisation of MPX, with the first two being E79 Resources (CSE:ESNR) and 
Queensland Gold Hills (TSXV:OZAU). 

Following the Offer, MPX will remain a substantial shareholder, with its pre-Offer holding 
carrying through to an 8.6% shareholding of Restricted Securities (excluding any 
additional Shares MPX may apply for in the Offer). MPX’s Technical Director, Tim 
Cooper, is a Director of the Company providing a valuable resource to leverage MPX’s 
expertise, relationships and experience gained during previous exploration, in addition to 
providing background specifically pertaining to the subsidiary which will be acquired by 
the Company. 

2.2 Corporate Structure 

The corporate structure of South-East Queensland Exploration Limited at close of the 
Offer will be as follows: 

  SQX Resources Limited 

ACN 659 090 338 

  

    100%   

  Ollenburgs Pty Ltd      

 
ACN 631 498 765 

  

  EPM 27257 "Ollenburgs" 

EPMA 28578 “Ollenburgs East” 

  

 
Note: Refer to Section 10.1(e) for information concerning the Ollenburgs Acquisition 
Agreement whereby the Company will acquire the Subsidiary immediately preceding 
admission to the Official List. 

 
2.3 Business Strategy 

Following admission to the ASX’s Official List, the Company's primary focus will be on 
exploration and where appropriate, development of its Prospects for copper, gold and 
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other base and precious metals. The Company’s aim is to acquire, explore, develop and 
exploit its mineral resource projects to build shareholder value. 

Pursuant to this business strategy, the Company will seek to: 

(a) Undertake capital-efficient exploration of current Prospects 

The Company intends to undertake exploration activities on each of its current 
Prospects with the aim of delivering growth of the Company for the benefit of 
Shareholders.  

To achieve this, the Company intends to undertake the exploration programs 
described in Sections 2.4 and 2.5.  

A key strategy of the Company will be to stage exploration activities to improve 
capital efficiency, for example by undertaking less-expensive geochemical and 
geophysical exploration activities to better define prospectivity before engaging in 
more-expensive drilling activities. 

(b) Conduct scoping studies and other economic evaluation studies when 
appropriate with a view to operating economic mining assets 

Where the Company considers it appropriate, based on exploration results, it 
intends to conduct studies (including economic studies such as scoping, pre-
feasibility and feasibility studies) to assess the prospects of development and 
mining operations on the Prospects in future, prior to constructing and, ultimately, 
operating economic mining assets. 

(c) Opportunistically identify and acquire additional projects to create 
additional Shareholder value 

If and when a viable additional investment opportunity is identified, the Board may 
elect to acquire or exploit such opportunity by way of acquisition, joint venture, 
and/or earn-in arrangement, which may involve the payment of consideration in 
cash, equity or a combination of both. 

The Company will identify potential investment opportunities with consideration 
given to the following attributes: 

- proximity to existing mine workings and/or known mineral occurrences 

- prospectivity for copper and other base and precious metals 
- proximity to existing roadways and weather patterns conducive to year-round 

exploration  
- limited recent exploration using the latest geochemical, geophysical or 

exploration drilling technologies 
Where possible, the Company may seek to engage third parties to apply emerging 
technologies to existing publicly available exploration data in order to identify 
prospective targets for further consideration. 

The Board will assess the suitability of investment opportunities by utilising its 
considerable experience in evaluating projects. There are, of course, risks and 
uncertainties in the process of identifying and acquiring new and suitable projects 
(see, for example, Section 3.2(c) and 3.2(x)).  

The success of the Company in executing this business plan is subject to a number of 
key dependencies, namely: 



 

21 

(i) there being sufficient capital available to the Company to carry out its 
exploration and development plans, prior to the Company being in a 
position to generate income;  

(ii) maintaining title to the Tenement; 

(iii) retaining and recruiting key personnel skilled in the mining and resource 
sector and in particular, mineral exploration; and 

(iv) the market price of minerals remaining higher than the Company’s costs of 
any future production (assuming successful exploration by the Company). 

2.4 Overview of the Prospects 

The Company will acquire Ollenburgs Pty Ltd (Ollenburgs) prior to admission to the Official List of 
ASX, comprised of EPM 27257 (the Tenement) which contains the Scrub Paddock Prospect and 
the Ollenburgs Prospect (the Prospects). The Tenement is located in southeast Queensland and 
is prospective for copper and gold. Ollenburgs comprises one granted Exploration Permit for 
Minerals (“EPM”), EPM 27257, for a total of 15 sub-blocks and ~45km2 and 1 pending application 
for an EPM, EPMA 28578, of 44 sub-blocks and ~132km2 with the tenement details listed in 
Table 1. 

  
Figure 1: Location of projects 

 
 

Tenure ID  Permit 
Name 

Status Date 
Lodged 

Date 
Granted 

Expiry 
Date 

2022 
Expenditure 
Commitment 

Sub-
blocks 

Area 
km2 

EPM27257 
 

Ollenburgs Granted 27/03/19 10/12/20 9/12/25 $60,000 15 ~45 

EPMA28578 
 

Ollenburgs 
East 

Pending 26/07/22   Outcome-based 44 ~132 

Table 1: Tenement details 

Detailed information about the geology, background, and proposed expenditure for each of the 
Prospects is set out in the Independent Geologist’s Report in Section 8. For information about the 
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legal nature and status of the Tenement, refer to the Solicitor’s Report on the Tenement in 
Section 9. The budget for exploration of each of the Prospects is set out in Section 2.5 below. 

(a) Tenement Overview 

The Tenement consists of 15 subblocks across approximately 45km2 and includes 
the Scrub Paddock Prospect and Ollenburgs Prospect. 

The Tenement is situated approximately 37km northeast of Nanango, Queensland 
and approximately 190km northwest of Brisbane, Queensland. The town of Elgin 
Vale is situated approximately 3km north of the Tenement, with minor gazetted 
roads connecting the State Forest to Elgin Vale.  

The majority of the Tenement is located within the Elgin Vale State Forest, with 
forestry tracks through plantation and eucalyptus woodland providing easy access 
for field work.  

An additional EPM has been applied for by the Company (through its subsidiary) 
named Ollenburgs East, which abuts EPM 27257 to the east. 

(b) Geological Setting & Previous Exploration 

The Tenement is prospective for copper and gold. EPM 27257 encompasses 
numerous small historical gold/copper workings including both alluvial and hard-
rock mines. 

The Scrub Paddock Prospect contains over 20 existing mineral workings on 
alluvial and hard-rock targets, with gold grades purportedly over 60g/t and copper 
and silver having also being mined, while the Ollenburgs Prospect contains 
several small hard-rock workings which produced copper, gold and silver (at 
unknown grades). 

Both Prospects are hosted by the Esk Basin, a structural unit that lies within the 
northern part of the New England Fold Belt (Figure 2). This belt is part of the over-
arching Tasman Orogeny, a regional setting known to host significant porphyry 
copper-gold deposits and prospects.  

The Cadia/Ridgeway porphyry copper/gold and gold-only deposits of Southern 
NSW can be considered as potentially analogous to the geological setting of EPM 
27257. 

The primary exploration models are the copper/gold and gold porphyry types, with 
a secondary exploration model including the suite of deposit types that come 
under the Intrusion Related Gold (“IRG”) classification.  

Previous exploration comprises surface geochemical sampling, mapping, ground 
based magnetic surveys and a combination of diamond and reverse circulation 
drilling (16 holes for 3,184m at Scrub Paddock) with variable success.  
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Figure 2: EPM 27257 Geology 

 

(c) Exploration Potential and Work Program 

Figure 3 outlines planned exploration targets at both Scrub Paddock and 
Ollenburgs Prospects. 
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Figure 3: EPM 27257 targets 

Scrub Paddock Prospect 

The Company will target a gold-copper porphyry system, based on observations 
including mineralisation (broad structural zone of gold mineralisation hosted by 
veins and shear zones associated with dyke margins) and alteration styles (k-
feldspar and chlorite). 

The Scrub Paddock Prospect is defined by mineralised drill intercepts and surface 
gold / arsenic / copper anomalism extending over a 2km strike length, with 
mineralisation being characterised by a late-stage chlorite-quartz-sulphide 
hydrothermal event which is superimposed on widespread early potassic 
alteration in both andesitic country rocks and intrusive diorites and dykes. The 
intrusive body is characterised by a series of magnetic discordances that could be 
the result of multiple intrusions and/or alteration/mineralisation related overprints 
(Figure 4).  
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Previous drilling identified a number of higher-grade gold zones within broad lower 
grade intervals with mineralisation remaining open down dip and along strike. 
Significant results include 8m @ 3.38 g/t Au within a broader zone of 40m @ 0.92 
g/t Au from drill hole RC91EV4 (Figure 4). A number of historical workings and 
anomalies defined by soil geochemistry remain untested by drilling. 

 

 
Figure 4: Scrub Paddock Prospect Anomaly Map 

In May 2022, MPX arranged 3x 2D IP survey lines (shown as red horizontal lines 
in Figure 4) which successfully defined anomalous chargeability and resistivity 
features potentially associated with mineralisation. A cross-section of the 
southernmost IP line is shown in Figure 5, which successfully outlined a potential 
mineral-related signature and represent clear cut drill targets for porphyry style 
Au/Cu mineralisation.   
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The 3x 2D IP lines only covered a small portion of the Scrub Paddock prospect, 
creating an opportunity to complete further IP lines across the remaining Scrub 
Paddock Prospect.  

  
Figure 5: Scrub Paddock southernmost IP Line Chargeability cross-section 
 
The Company’s current work plan for exploration activities in the next two years 
for the Scrub Paddock prospect is shown below in Table 2. 

Year 1 - 6x reverse circulation (“RC”) and RC precollar with diamond 
drill tail holes for a total of 2,500m 

- Additional IP survey lines (~20km) to cover extents of Scrub 
Paddock area 

- Expanded soil sampling over magnetic features to East of 
current sampling 

Year 2 - 8x RC precollar with diamond drill tail holes for a total of 
3,150m 

Table 2: Scrub Paddock Exploration Plan 

Ollenburgs Prospect 

The Company will target a silica undersaturated alkalic copper / gold porphyry 
system.  

A geochemical anomaly showing elevated copper and gold historical rock chip 
samples and a small-scale open-ended copper BLEG historical soil anomaly 
define the prospect.  

This anomalous surface geochemistry, including multi-element data from soil 
sampling, is linked to a discrete airborne magnetic high, the combination of which 
has been interpreted by the Company to represent a small, subtle alteration 
footprint with limited veining, all consistent with a silica undersaturated alkalic 
Cu/Au porphyry system.  

Geochemical anomalies remain open to the northwest, and no drilling has 
occurred at the Ollenburgs prospect. 
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Figure 6: Ollenburgs Prospect Anomaly Map 

Planned exploration for the Ollenburgs Prospect consists of surface geophysical 
surveys (in particular IP), additional surface geochemical sampling and geological 
studies, all designed to generate targets for subsequent drill testing, as outlined in 
Table 3. 

Year 1 - Expanded soil sampling over intrusive area 

Year 2 - IP survey lines (~10km) across Ollenburgs prospect 
- If IP / existing geochemical results suggest further potential, 

6x RC drill holes for a total of 1,000m 
Table 3: Ollenburgs Prospect Exploration Plan 

2.5 Proposed Exploration Budgets 

The Company proposes to fund its intended activities as outlined in the table below from 
the proceeds of the Offer. It should be noted that the budgets will be subject to 
modification on an ongoing basis, depending on the results obtained from exploration 
undertaken. This will involve an ongoing assessment of the Company’s project interests 
and may lead to increased or decreased levels of expenditure on certain interests, 
reflecting a change in emphasis.  
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Subject to the above, the following budgets are proposed which take into account the 
proposed expenses over the next 24 months to complete initial exploration of the 
Prospects. 

Exploration 

Scrub Paddock 

Prospect 

Ollenburgs 

Prospect Total 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 1 Year 2 Year 1 Year 2 

Tenement 
management / land 
access 

94,000 0 0 0 $94,000 $0 

Geochemical 63,000 0 90,000 0 $153,000 $0 

Geophysical 98,000 0 50,000 0 $148,000 $0 

Data review / targeting 2,000 7,000 1,000 1,000 $3,000 $8,000 

Drilling 922,000 1,138,000 0 236,000 $922,000 $1,374,000 

Evaluation and support         $161,000 $161,000 

Total $1,179,000 $1,145,000 $141,000 $237,000 $1,481,000 $1,543,000 

Table 4: Proposed Exploration Budget 
 

 The above table is a statement of current intentions as at the date of this Prospectus. As 
with any budget, intervening events (including exploration success or failure) and new 
circumstances have the potential to affect the manner in which the funds are ultimately 
applied. The Board reserves the right to alter the way funds are applied on this basis. 
 The Company has not allocated a budget to EPMA 28578 “Ollenburgs East” at the date 
of this Prospectus.  
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3. Risk Factors 

3.1 Introduction 

An investment in the Securities offered under this Prospectus should be considered as 
highly speculative. The Directors recommend that potential investors consider the non-
exhaustive list of risk factors described below, together with information contained 
elsewhere in this Prospectus, before deciding whether to apply for Securities. 

The following is not intended to be an exhaustive list of the risk factors to which the 
Company is exposed.  

3.2 Risks Specific to the Company and its industry 

(a) Limited history 

The Company was incorporated on 2 May 2022 and has limited operating history and 
limited historical financial performance.  The Company does not generate profits.  To 
date, only limited exploration has been conducted on the Tenement. As such, no 
assurance can be given that the Company will achieve commercial viability through the 
successful exploration or subsequent mining on its Prospects. Until the Company is able 
to realise value from its Prospects, it is likely to incur ongoing operating losses. 

(b) No defined resources 

The Company, at this time, does not have any identified mineral resources or reserves 
and exploration over the areas covered by the Prospects is limited.  There is no 
assurance that exploration or project studies by the Company will result in the definition of 
an economically viable mineral deposit.  Potential investors should understand that 
mineral exploration is a high-risk undertaking. 

(c) Exploration and development risk 

The Tenement is in the early stages of exploration.  There can be no assurance that 
exploration of the licenses, or any other tenements that may be acquired or granted in the 
future, will result in the discovery of an economic ore deposit.  Even if an apparently 
viable deposit is identified, there is no guarantee that it can be economically exploited. 

The exploration costs of the Company described in Section 8 are based on certain 
assumptions with respect to the method and timing of exploration. By their nature, these 
estimates and assumptions are subject to significant uncertainties and accordingly, the 
actual costs may materially differ from these estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, no 
assurance can be given that the cost estimates and the underlying assumptions will be 
realised in practice, which may materially and adversely affect the Company’s 
performance. 

Mineral exploration and development is a speculative and high-risk undertaking that may 
be impeded by circumstances and factors beyond the control of the Company.  Success 
in this process involves, among other things: 

(i) discovery and proving up, or acquiring, an economically recoverable 
resource or reserve; 

(ii) access to adequate capital throughout the acquisition/discovery and 
project development phases; 

(iii) securing and maintaining title to mineral exploration projects; 
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(iv) obtaining required development consents and approvals necessary for the 
acquisition, mineral exploration, development and production phases; and 

(v) accessing the necessary experienced operational staff, the appropriate 
financial management and recruiting skilled contractors, consultants and 
employees. 

There can be no assurance that exploration on the Prospects, or any other exploration 
properties that may be acquired or granted in the future, will result in the discovery of an 
economic mineral resource. Even if an apparently viable mineral resource is identified, 
there is no guarantee that it can be economically exploited. 

This risk is compounded by the fact that the Company will only hold a single Tenement at 
the date of admission to the Official List. 

(d) Resource Estimates 

Whilst the Company intends to undertake exploration activities with the aim of defining a 
resource, no assurances can be given that the exploration will result in the determination 
of a resource on any tenement.  Even if a resource is identified, no assurance can be 
provided that this can be economically extracted. 

In the event that the Company successfully delineates a resource or reserve on any 
tenement, that resource or reserve estimate will be an expression of judgment based on 
knowledge, experience and industry practice. Estimates which were valid when originally 
calculated may alter significantly when new information or techniques become available. 
In addition, by their very nature, resource estimates are imprecise and depend to some 
extent on interpretations, which may prove to be inaccurate. As further information 
becomes available through additional fieldwork and analysis, estimates are likely to 
change. This may result in alterations to development and mining plans which may, in 
turn, adversely affect the Company’s operations. 

(e) Results of studies 

Subject to the results of exploration and testing programs to be undertaken, the Company 
may progressively undertake a number of studies in relation to the Prospects. These 
studies may include scoping, pre-feasibility, definitive feasibility and bankable feasibility 
studies. 

These studies will be completed within parameters designed to determine the economic 
feasibility of the subject Prospects within certain limits. There can be no guarantee that 
any of these studies will confirm the economic viability of the Prospects or the results of 
other studies undertaken by the Company (e.g. the results of a feasibility study may 
materially differ to the results of a scoping study). 

Even if a study confirms the economic viability of a Prospect, there can be no guarantee 
that the Prospect will be successfully brought into production as assumed or within the 
estimated parameters in the feasibility study (e.g. operational costs and commodity 
prices) once production commences. Further, the ability of the Company to complete a 
study may be dependent on the Company’s ability to raise further funds to complete the 
study if required. 

(f) Metallurgy 

Metal and/or mineral recoveries are dependent upon the metallurgical process that is 
required to liberate economic minerals and produce a saleable product and by nature 
contain elements of significant risk, such as:  
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(i) identifying a metallurgical process through test work to produce a saleable 
metal and/or concentrate; 

(ii) developing an economic process route to produce a metal and/or 
concentrate; and 

(iii) changes in mineralogy in the ore deposit that can result in inconsistent 
metal recovery, affecting the economic viability of the project. 

(g) Additional Requirements for Capital 

The funds raised under the Offer are considered sufficient to meet the exploration and 
evaluation objectives of the Company over the first two years, as set out in Section 2.5. 
Additional funding may be required if exploration costs exceed the Company’s estimates 
and will be required once those funds are depleted. To effectively implement its business 
and operations plans in the future, to take advantage of opportunities for acquisitions, 
joint ventures or other business opportunities and to meet any unanticipated liabilities or 
expenses which the Company may incur, additional equity or other finance may be 
required.  The Company may seek to raise further funds through equity or debt financing, 
joint ventures, production sharing arrangements, royalty streaming or other means, in 
future.  

Failure to obtain sufficient financing for the Company’s activities may result in delay and 
indefinite postponement of exploration, development or production on the Company’s 
properties or even loss of a property interest. There can be no assurance that additional 
finance will be available when needed or, if available, the terms of the financing might not 
be favourable to the Company and might involve substantial dilution to Shareholders. 

(h) Potential for dilution 

On completion of the Offer and the subsequent issue of Shares, the number of Shares in 
the Company will increase from 6,250,000 to 31,250,000 assuming that no Options are 
exercised. On this basis, existing Shareholders should note that if they do not participate 
in the Offer (and even if they do), their holdings may be considerably diluted (as 
compared to their holdings and number of Shares on issue as at the date of this 
Prospectus).  

(i) Native Title and Aboriginal Heritage 

Where Native Title does or may exist over any of the Company’s tenements, the ability of 
the Company to convert such tenement or part thereof into a valid mining lease (for 
example in the event of the Company making a discovery) will be subject to the Company 
reaching a commercial agreement with the holders of or applicants for Native Title or on 
the Company obtaining a determination from the National Native Title Tribunal that the 
mining lease be granted in the absence of such an agreement. The negotiation of such a 
commercial agreement or proceedings in the courts could materially delay the grant of 
such a mining lease and substantially add to the Company’s costs; failure to reach such 
an agreement could result in the Company being unable to obtain a mining lease. 

Irrespective of whether Native Title exists on the relevant areas, in order to conduct 
exploration activities on any tenement, the Company will usually need to undertake 
clearance activities in conjunction with the appropriate Aboriginal parties, anthropologists 
and archaeologists to ascertain whether any sites of significance to Aboriginal parties 
exist in the relevant areas. Undertaking and completing such site clearance procedures 
can cause delays to the implementation of exploration activities. Delays in completing 
such clearance activities can impede or prevent the Company from satisfying the 
minimum expenditure conditions on the tenement, with the result that the Company may 
in some instances need to seek whole or partial exemptions from expenditure under the 
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relevant Mining Act in order to keep the tenement in good standing. There is no certainty 
that such exemptions will be granted in all instances. 

Where such significant sites do exist, the Company’s ability to conduct exploration on 
those areas may be subject to obtaining relevant consents under the Aboriginal Heritage 
laws. In relation to these matters, refer to Section 9. 

(j) Title and Tenure 

The Company's Tenement only currently permits exploration on the Tenement. If the 
Company successfully delineates an economic resource on this or other exploration 
licenses, it will need to apply for a mining permit to undertake development and mining. 
There is no guarantee that the Company will be granted a mining permit if one is applied 
for, as such grants are discretionary. 

Exploration licenses are subject to annual review and periodic renewal. The renewal of 
the term of a granted exploration license is also subject to the discretion of the relevant 
Minister. Renewal conditions may include increased expenditure and work commitments 
or compulsory relinquishment of areas of the licenses comprising the Company’s 
Prospects. While it is the Company’s intention to satisfy the conditions that apply to the 
Tenement, there can be no guarantees that the Tenement will be renewed or that 
minimum expenditure and other conditions that apply to the Tenement will be satisfied. 
Renewal conditions may include increased expenditure and work commitments or 
compulsory relinquishment of areas of the Tenement comprising the Prospects that 
adversely impact the Company. 

If a tenement holder fails to comply with the terms and conditions of a tenement, the 
Warden or Minister (as applicable) may impose a fine or order that the tenement be 
forfeited. In most cases, an order for forfeiture can only be made where the breach is of 
sufficient gravity to justify forfeiture of the tenement. In certain cases, a third party can 
institute administrative proceedings under the Mining Act before the Warden seeks 
forfeiture of the tenement. 

For more information on the Tenement, see the Solicitor's Report on the Tenement in 
Section 9. 

(k) Failure to Satisfy Expenditure Commitments 

Each exploration license carries with it annual expenditure and reporting commitments, as 
well as other conditions requiring compliance. Consequently, the Company could lose title 
to or its interest in the Tenement if the license conditions are not met or if insufficient 
funds are available to meet expenditure commitments. 

Currently, the granted Tenement is in good standing. Tenement details are set out in the 
Solicitor’s Report on Tenement in Section 9. 

(l) Land access and compensation 

There is a substantial level of regulation and restriction on the ability of exploration and 
mining companies to gain access to land in Australia. Negotiations with both Native Title 
parties and landowners/occupiers are generally required before the Company can access 
land for exploration or mining activities. Investors should be aware that any delay in 
obtaining agreement in respect of compensation due to landholders whose land 
comprises the Tenement may adversely impact or delay the Company's ability to carry 
out exploration or mining activities on its Tenement. 

(m) Crown land and other access restrictions 
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There may be restrictions imposed on the Tenement that makes access to parts of them 
unavailable to the Company, regardless of their potential economic value to the 
Company. It is not possible, without further exploration of the Tenement, to determine the 
potential impact of these restrictions on the value of the Tenement. 

For more information on the Tenement, refer to the Solicitor's Report on the Tenement in 
Section 9. 

(n) Environmental Risks 

The Company’s exploration programs will, in general, be subject to approval by 
governmental authorities. Development of any of the Company’s properties will be 
dependent on the Project meeting environmental guidelines and where required, being 
approved by governmental authorities. 

The operations and proposed activities of the Company are subject to State and Federal 
laws and regulation concerning the environment. As with most exploration projects and 
mining operations, the Company’s activities are expected to have an impact on the 
environment, particularly if advanced exploration or mine development proceeds.  

Although it is the Company’s intention to conduct its activities to the highest standard of 
environmental obligation, including in compliance in all material respects with relevant 
environmental laws, if such laws are nonetheless breached, the Company may be 
required to cease its operations and/or incur significant liabilities.  

(o) Operating Risks 

The operations of the Company may be affected by various factors, including failure to 
locate or identify mineral deposits, failure to achieve predicted grades in exploration and 
mining, operational and technical difficulties encountered in exploration or mining, 
difficulties in commissioning and operating plant and equipment, mechanical failure or 
plant breakdown, unanticipated metallurgical problems which may affect extraction costs, 
adverse weather conditions, industrial and environmental accidents, industrial disputes 
and unexpected shortages or increases in the costs of consumables, spare parts and 
plant and equipment. 

(p) Commodity Price Volatility and Exchange Rate Risks 

The value of the Company’s assets and potential earnings may be affected by 
fluctuations in commodity prices and exchange rates, such as the USD and AUD 
denominated copper and gold prices and the AUD / USD exchange rate. 

These prices can significantly fluctuate and are exposed to numerous factors beyond the 
control of the Company, such as world demand for base and precious metals, forward 
selling by producers and production cost levels in major metal producing regions. Other 
factors include expectations regarding inflation, the financial impact of movements in 
interest rates, commodity price forward curves, global economic trends and domestic and 
international fiscal, monetary and regulatory policy settings. 

International prices of many commodities, including copper and gold, are denominated in 
United States dollars, whereas the income and expenditure of the Company are and will 
be taken into account in Australian currency, exposing the Company to the fluctuations 
and volatility of the rate of exchange between the United States dollar and the Australian 
dollar as determined in international markets. At this time, the Company has not put any 
hedging arrangements in place but may do so in future when the Directors consider it 
appropriate. 

(q) Reliance on Key Personnel 
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The responsibility of overseeing the day-to-day operations and the strategic management 
of the Company depends substantially on its senior management and its key personnel. 
There can be no assurance that there will be no detrimental effect on the Company if one 
or more of these key employees cease their employment or other roles in the Company.  

(r) Agents and contractors 

The Company intends to outsource substantial parts of its exploration activities pursuant 
to services contracts with third party contractors. In most cases, the Company has yet to 
enter into these arrangements. The Directors are unable to predict the risk of financial 
failure, default or insolvency of any of the contractors. If these events occur in relation to a 
contractor, recovery by the Company of resulting financial losses may be limited. 

Contractors may also underperform their obligations of their contracts. If such contracts 
are terminated, the Company may not be able to find a suitable replacement on 
satisfactory terms. 

(s) Royalties 

The Company’s mining projects may be subject to State royalties. In the event that State 
royalties are increased in the future, the profitability and commercial viability of the 
Company’s projects may be negatively impacted. 

(t) Rehabilitation of tenements 

In relation to the Company’s proposed operations, issues could arise from time to time 
with respect to abandonment costs, consequential clean-up costs, environmental 
concerns and other liabilities. In these instances, the Company may become subject to 
liability if, for example, there is environmental pollution or damage from the Company’s 
exploration activities and there are consequential clean-up costs at a later point in time. 

(u) Climate change regulation 

Mining of mineral resources is relatively energy intensive and is dependent on the 
consumption of fossil fuels. Increased regulation and government policy designed to 
mitigate climate change may adversely affect the Company’s cost of operations and 
adversely impact the financial performance of the Company. 

(v) Changes in Government Policy 

Adverse changes in Federal, Queensland government policies or legislation may affect 
ownership of mineral interests, taxation, royalties, land access, labour relations, and 
mining and exploration activities of the Company. It is possible that the current system of 
exploration and mine permitting in Queensland may change, resulting in impairment of 
rights and possibly, expropriation of the Company’s properties without adequate 
compensation. 

(w) Competition risk 

The industry in which the Company will be involved is subject to domestic and global 
competition, including major mineral exploration and production companies. Although the 
Company intends to undertake all reasonable due diligence in its business decisions and 
operations, the Company will have no influence or control over the activities or actions of 
its competitors, whose activities or actions may, positively or negatively, affect the 
operating and financial performance of the Company's Prospects and business.  

Some of the Company's competitors have greater financial and other resources than the 
Company and, as a result, may be in a better position to compete for future business 
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opportunities.  Many of the Company's competitors not only explore for and produce 
minerals, but also carry out refining operations and other products on a worldwide basis. 
There can be no assurance that the Company can compete effectively with these 
companies. 

(x) New projects and acquisitions 

The Company intends to actively pursue and assess new business opportunities in the 
resources sector. These new business opportunities may take the form of direct project 
acquisitions, joint ventures, farm-ins, acquisition of tenements/permits, and/or direct 
equity participation. 

The acquisition of projects (whether completed or not) may require the payment of 
monies (as a deposit and/or exclusivity fee) after only limited due diligence or prior to the 
completion of comprehensive due diligence.  

There can be no guarantee that any proposed acquisition will be completed or be 
successful. If the proposed acquisition is not completed, monies advanced may not be 
recoverable, which may have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

If an acquisition is completed, the Directors will need to reassess at that time, the funding 
allocated to current projects and new projects, which may result in the Company 
reallocating funds from the Prospects and/or raising additional capital (if available).  

Furthermore, notwithstanding that an acquisition may proceed upon the completion of due 
diligence, the usual risks associated with the new project/business activities will remain. 

(y) Safety 

Safety is a fundamental risk for any mineral exploration and production company in 
regard to personal injury, damage to property and equipment and other losses. The 
occurrence of any of these risks could result in legal proceedings against the Company 
and substantial losses to the Company due to injury or loss of life, damage or destruction 
of property, regulatory investigation, and penalties or suspension of operations.  Damage 
occurring to third parties as a result of such risks may give rise to claims against the 
Company. 

(z) Regulatory Risk 

The Company’s mining operations and exploration and development activities are subject 
to extensive laws and regulations relating to numerous matters, including resource 
license consent, conditions including environmental compliance and rehabilitation, 
taxation, employee relations, health and worker safety, waste disposal, protection of the 
environment, native title and heritage matters, protection of endangered and protected 
species and other matters. The Company requires permits from regulatory authorities to 
authorise the Company’s operations. These permits relate to exploration, development, 
rehabilitation and any production activities. 

Obtaining necessary permits can be a time-consuming process and there is a risk that the 
Company will not obtain these permits on acceptable terms, in a timely manner or at all. 
The costs and delays associated with obtaining necessary permits and complying with 
these permits and applicable laws and regulations could materially delay or restrict the 
Company from proceeding with the development of a project or any operation or 
development of a mine. Any failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations or 
permits, even if inadvertent, could result in material fines, penalties or other liabilities. In 
extreme cases, failure could result in suspension of the Company’s activities or forfeiture 
of one or more of its tenements. 
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(aa) Taxation changes may negatively affect the Company 

An investment in the Shares involves tax considerations which differ for each 
Shareholder. There may be tax implications arising from applications for Shares, 
participation in any on-market buy-back and/or on the future disposal of Shares. Further, 
the tax treatment of a Shareholder’s investment may be impacted by legislative changes 
in tax law or the interpretation of tax laws (including goods and services taxes, rules 
relating to deductable liabilities and stamp duty taxes). Any changes to the current rate of 
company income tax may impact Shareholder returns, and any change in tax rules and 
tax arrangements could have an adverse impact on the level of dividend franking and 
Shareholder returns. Potential investors should consult their professional tax adviser 
before deciding whether to apply for Shares pursuant to this Prospectus. 

There is the potential for changes to tax laws and changes in the way tax laws are 
interpreted. Any change to the current tax rates imposed on the Company is likely to 
affect returns to Shareholders.  

(bb) Insurance Risks 

The Company intends to insure its operations in accordance with industry practice. 
However, in certain circumstances, the Company’s insurance may not be of a nature or 
level to provide adequate insurance cover. The occurrence of an event that is not covered 
or fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on the business, 
financial condition and results of the Company. 

Insurance against all risks associated with mining exploration and production is not 
always available and where available, the costs can be prohibitive. 

(cc) Litigation Risks 

The Company is exposed to possible litigation risks including native title claims, joint 
venture claims, tenure disputes, environmental claims, occupational health and safety 
claims and employee claims. Further, the Company may be involved in disputes with 
other parties in the future which may result in litigation. 

Any such claim or dispute if proven, may impact adversely on the Company’s operations, 
financial performance and financial position. The Company is not currently engaged in 
any litigation.   

Although the Company has investigated title to its Tenement (as detailed in the Solicitor’s 
Report on the Tenement in Section 9), the Company cannot give any assurance that title 
to such Tenement will not be challenged or impugned in the future. The Tenement may 
be affected by undetected defects or native title claims. 

(dd) Licences, permits and approvals  

While one pending tenement has not yet been granted (further details in respect of which 
are set out in Section 2.4 and in the Solicitor's Report in Section 9), the Company 
confirms that it holds all material authorisations required to undertake the exploration 
programs described in this Prospectus. 

However, many of the mineral rights and interests to be held by the Company are subject 
to the need for ongoing or new government approvals, licences and permits. These 
requirements, including work permits and environmental approvals, will change as the 
Company's operations develop. Delays in obtaining, or the inability to obtain, required 
authorisations may significantly impact on the Company's operations. 
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3.3 General Risks 

(a) Investment risk 

The Shares to be issued under this Prospectus should be considered highly speculative. 
There is no guarantee as to the payment of dividends, return of capital or the market 
value of the Shares from time to time. The price at which an investor is able to trade the 
Shares may be above or below the price paid for Shares under the Offer. Whilst the 
Directors commend the Offer, investors must make their own assessment of the risks and 
determine whether an investment in the Company is appropriate in their own 
circumstances. 

(b) Share market risk 

Share market conditions may affect the value of the Company’s securities regardless of 
the Company’s operating performance. Share market conditions may cause the Shares to 
trade at prices below the price at which the Shares are being offered under this 
Prospectus. There is no assurance that the price of the Shares will increase following 
quotation of the Company on the ASX, even if the Company’s earnings increase. Some 
factors include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(i) general economic outlook; 

(ii) interest rates and inflation rates; 

(iii) currency fluctuations; 

(iv) changes in investor sentiment toward particular market sectors; 

(v) the demand for, and supply of, capital; 

(vi) terrorism or other hostilities; and 

(vii) other factors beyond the control of the Company. 

There can be no guarantee that an active market in the Company’s Shares will develop or 
that the price of the Shares will increase. There may be relatively few or many potential 
buyers or sellers of the Shares on ASX at any given time. This may increase the volatility 
of the market price of the Shares. It may also affect the prevailing market price at which 
Shareholders are able to sell their Shares. 

(c) Economic Risks 

General economic conditions, introduction of tax reform, new legislation, movements in 
interest and inflation rates and currency exchange rates may have an adverse effect on 
the Company’s exploration, development and any production activities, as well as on its 
ability to fund those activities. 

(d) Accounting standards may change 

Australian Accounting Standards are set by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and are outside the control of either the Company or its Directors and senior 
management. The AASB may introduce new or refined Australian Accounting Standards 
in the coming years, which may affect future measurement and recognition of key income 
statement and balance sheet items, including revenue and receivables. There is also a 
risk that interpretations of existing Australian Accounting Standards, including those 
relating to the measurement and recognition of key income statement and balance sheet 
items, including revenue and receivables, may differ. Changes to Australian Accounting 
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Standards issued by the AASB, or changes to the commonly held views on the 
application of those standards, could materially adversely affect the financial performance 
and position reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

(e) Force majeure 

Events may occur within or outside the markets in which the Company operates that 
could impact upon the global and Australian economies, the operations of the Company 
and the market price of its Shares. These events include acts of terrorism, outbreaks of 
international hostilities, fires, pandemics, floods, earthquakes, labour strikes, civil wars, 
natural disasters, outbreaks of disease, and other man-made or natural events or 
occurrences that can have an adverse effect on the demand for the Company’s services 
and its ability to conduct business. Given the Company has only a limited ability to insure 
against some of these risks, its business, financial performance and operations may be 
materially and adversely affected if any of the events described above occur. 

(f) Information systems and cyber risk 

The Company is reliant on information technology to operate it business. Despite 
measures Company has put in place to protect its network and information which is 
stored on its systems, it is possible that those measures may be breached or otherwise 
found to be inadequate. Unauthorised third-party access to these information technology 
systems and the potential theft of sensitive information could expose the Company to 
reputational damage, loss of opportunities, theft, a disruption of operations, legal action 
and regulatory scrutiny. Any of these events could adversely impact the Company's 
reputation, business, financial condition and financial performance. 

(g) Infectious Diseases  

The outbreak of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is having a material effect on global 
economic markets. The global economic outlook is facing uncertainty due to the 
pandemic, which has had and may continue to have a significant impact on capital 
markets. 

The Company's Share price may be adversely affected by the economic uncertainty 
caused by COVID-19. Further measures to limit the transmission of the virus 
implemented by governments around the world (such as travel bans and quarantining) 
may adversely impact the Company's operations and may interrupt the Company carrying 
out its contractual obligations or cause disruptions to supply chains. 

3.4 Investment Speculative 

The above list of risk factors ought not to be taken as exhaustive of the risks faced by the 
Company or by investors in the Company. The above factors, and others not specifically 
referred to above, may in the future materially affect the financial performance of the 
Company and the value of the Shares offered under this Prospectus. Therefore, the 
Shares to be issued pursuant to this Prospectus carry no guarantee with respect to the 
payment of dividends, returns of capital or the market value of those Shares. 

Investors should consider that an investment in the Company is highly speculative and 
should consult their professional advisers before deciding whether to apply for Shares 
under this Prospectus. 

This Prospectus provides important information about the Company. You should read the 
entire document including the Application Form. If you have any questions about the Offer 
or the Prospectus, you should speak to your professional adviser.  
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4. Key Persons and Corporate Governance 

4.1 Board of Directors  

The Company is managed by the Board of Directors. The Board comprises individuals with 
experience in the exploration and mining industry, in finance and in corporate 
management. The Board and management’s focus will be to create capital growth for 
Shareholders. 

The Board comprises 3 Directors. These are: 

(a) Bryan Granzien – Non-Executive Chairman 

Bryan is Managing Director of Hawsons Iron Ltd (Hawsons), an emerging producer of 
premium quality iron ore, leading the charge to meet the demand for high-grade products 
essential to decarbonising the steel industry.  

The Board considers Mr Granzien to be an Independent Director. 

Bryan has extensive leadership experience, demonstrated change management expertise 
and success in ASX listed and unlisted environments across mining, agribusiness, 
information technology and steel manufacturing industries.  

Following a range of senior executive roles with MIM Holdings Ltd and Grainco Australia 
Pty Ltd, Bryan held General Manager positions at both Neumann Steel Pty Ltd and 
NatSteel Australia Pty Ltd from 2004 to 2011. In 2011, Bryan was appointed CEO for Tata 
Steel Resources Australia, representing the parent company Tata Steel Ltd as a Director / 
CEO of Australian subsidiaries Tata Steel Resources Australia Pty Ltd and Kalimati Coal 
Co. Pty Ltd. The main objective of these companies was the procurement of metallurgical 
coal and investment in coal and iron ore mines to supply Tata Steel Ltd’s international 
steel mills. 

In 2017/2018, as CEO of the ASX listed Automotive Solutions Group Pty Ltd, Bryan saw 
the business through a particularly turbulent period to achieve improved outcomes for all 
stakeholders.  

 Prior to joining Hawsons (which was previously named Carpentaria Resources Ltd), 
Bryan utilised his experience, networks, and business acumen to run his own executive 
management consultancy business. 

 Bryan has a Bachelor of Business, is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, and a fellow of the CEO Institute. Additional to his senior executive roles Bryan 
has held a diverse number of Director and committee member appointments on industry, 
subsidiary and company Boards including the National Chair of the Australian India 
Business Council Sub-Committee on Energy & Resources. 

(b) Tim Cooper – Non-Executive Director 

Tim has over 17 years of natural resources experience with a broad range of operational, 
technical and consulting expertise at all stages of project development across coal, 
base/precious metals and bulk commodity sectors.  

The Board does not consider Mr Cooper to be an Independent Director by virtue of his 
interest in the Company's Shares (in this regard, refer to notes 4 and 5 to the tale in 
Section 4.4). 

After starting his career in exploration and mining geology, Tim transitioned into mining 
consultancy, culminating in Principal Mining Consultant roles at MEC Mining Pty Ltd and 
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Precision Mining Pty Ltd. He managed teams of mining engineers to deliver mine 
planning and project investment analysis studies and also developed scheduling and 
project evaluation software solutions. 

Tim is currently the Technical Director for MPX, a private company with a successful track 
record of identifying, acquiring and investing in mineral exploration across Australia. He is 
principally responsible for helping drive MPX’s systemisation of project acquisition, 
development and commercialisation. 

 Tim holds a Bachelor of Science (Geology) from the University of Newcastle. 

(c) Brent Van Staden – Non-Executive Director 

Brent is a Partner and Head of Capital Markets in the corporate team of Colin Biggers & 
Paisley Lawyers.   

The Board does not consider Mr van Staden to be an Independent Director by virtue of 
his interest in Colin Biggers & Paisley Lawyers as a partner in that firm, to whom the 
Company has paid fees for professional services (in this regard, refer to notes 4 and 5 to 
the table in Section 10.14). 

He has considerable experience in all aspects of corporate and mining law, advising 
clients on matters involving corporate governance, capital raising, mergers and 
acquisitions in the mineral resources sector. 

Brent holds a Masters of Law in Taxation, a Masters of Commercial Law and a Diploma of 
Legal Practice. He is admitted to practice in Queensland and New South Wales, as well 
as the United Kingdom and South Africa. He also has a Post Graduate Diploma in 
Applied Corporate Governance.  

4.2 Management 

(a) Mark Purcell – Chief Executive Officer 

Mark brings a blend of experience in the mining and corporate finance industries across a 
variety of leadership, technical and corporate roles. 

From 2017-2022, Mark developed his corporate finance experience at both Rothschild & 
Co Australia Limited and Goldman Sachs Australia Services Pty Ltd. Mark gained 
experience across mergers and acquisitions of publicly listed and private metals and 
mining companies, equity capital markets, derivatives and other financial advisory.  

Mark also spent nine years in various roles at Peabody Energy Australia Coal Pty Ltd and 
Rio Tinto Coal Australia Pty Ltd. The majority of these roles were in leadership positions 
after developing his technical mining engineering skillset.  

Mark holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Mining) from the University of Queensland and a 
Master of Business Administration (Executive) from the Australian Graduate School of 
Management and is a member of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. 

(b) Craig McPherson – Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary 

Craig is a Director of M+H Private and has 25 years’ experience advising businesses in 
all fields, specialising in business advisory and corporate finance. His career has spanned 
both professional practice and commercial areas.  

Before co-founding M+H Private, Craig was a partner at a mid-tier accounting firm and 
also held executive roles with ASX and TSX listed companies as Chief Financial Officer, 
Director and Company Secretary. His extensive experience helped him gain not only his 
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comprehensive understanding of business management, but also oversight of significant 
corporate transactions (M&As), acquisitions and divestments, financing initiatives and 
stock exchange listings.  

Craig currently acts as Company Secretary for a number of ASX-listed and unlisted public 
and private companies. 

Craig holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Queensland and is a 
Chartered Accountant – CAANZ. 

(c) Ian Kelso – Exploration Manager 

 Ian is an experienced geologist with a career spanning over 30 years in exploration and 
mining geology, working for companies including PanAust Limited, Evolution Mining 
Limited, Glencore, Thiess Group Holdings Pty Ltd, Xstrata Copper Exploration Pty Ltd 
and Pasminco Limited. 

 Ian participated in the discovery of the North Portia copper-gold deposit in the 
Curnamona Province in South Australia and new zinc-lead-silver ore shoots at the 
Endeavour Mine at Cobar, New South Wales. 

 He was also Senior Mine Geologist as part of the team developing the Century zinc mine 
in Queensland and has been exploration manager for base metals and gold prospects 
across Queensland, New South Wales and Pakistan. 

Ian holds a Bachelor of Applied Science (Hons) from University of Technology Sydney, a 
Master of Engineering Science from the University of NSW, is a Chartered Professional of 
the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and a Queensland Registered 
Professional Engineer. 

4.3 Directors’ Interests 

Other than as set out below or elsewhere in this Prospectus, no Director holds at the date 
of this Prospectus, or held at any time during the last two years before the date of 
lodgement of this Prospectus with ASIC, had any interest in: 

(a) the formation or promotion of the Company; or 

(b) any property acquired or proposed to be acquired by the Company in connection 
with its formation or promotion of the Company or the Offer; or 

(c) the Offer, 

and no amounts have been paid or agreed to be paid by any person and no benefits have 
been given or agreed to be given by any person to a Director to induce him or her to 
become, or to qualify as, a Director, or for services provided by a Director or proposed 
Director in connection with the formation or promotion of the Company or the Offer. 

4.4 Directors' Interests in securities  

As at the date of this Prospectus, the interest of Directors (and their respective 
associates) in securities of the Company are set out in the table below. 

Director Remuneration 
p.a. 

Existing Shares 
6 

% (Undiluted) 
at Listing 1 

Director and 
Management Options 2 

Performance 
Rights 3  

Bryan Granzien $36,000 0 0 1,350,000 750,000 
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Tim Cooper 5 $30,000 105,488 4 0.34% 250,000 300,000 

Brent Van Staden $30,000 0 0 250,000 300,000 

 
Notes: 
1. At completion of the Offer, assuming no Options are exercised. 
2. Refer to Sections 4.6 and 10.5 for the terms and conditions of the Director and Management Options 

for each Director. Options will be issued upon admission to the Official List of the ASX. 
3. Refer to Sections 4.7 and 10.8 for the terms and conditions of the Performance Rights for each 

Director. Performance Rights will be issued upon admission to the Official List of the ASX. 
4. Held by an entity associated with Tim Cooper – EZ Invest Pty Ltd atf Cooper Investment Trust (ACN 

655 380 322). 
5. Mr Cooper was appointed as a Director by Mining Projects Accelerator Pty Ltd, which holds 431,312 

Shares at the date of this prospectus and will hold 2,695,700 Shares following the proposed Share 
Split, representing 43.1% on the date of this Prospectus and 8.6% at completion of the Offer (refer to 
Section 10.12(a)). 

6. Refer to Section 10.2 for information about the rights attaching to Shares.  The number of Shares 
represented in the table assumes that the Share Split is approved at the Company's General Meeting 
called for 15 December 2022. Refer to Section 5.8 for details of the Company's substantial 
shareholders as at the date of this Prospectus. 

7. The table assumes that the Directors do not subscribe for Shares under this Prospectus. 

4.5 Remuneration of Directors 

(a) Bryan Granzien - Independent Non-Executive Chairman 

Mr Granzien has entered into a Non-Executive Chairman and Director Agreement with 
the Company and will be paid a Director's fee of $36,000 per annum plus statutory 
superannuation for his role as an Independent Non-Executive Director. In the 2 years 
prior to the date of this Prospectus, neither Mr Granzien nor entities controlled by him 
have received any remuneration from the Company.  

Mr Granzien will be issued 1,000,000 Chair and CEO Options, 350,000 Director Options 
and 750,000 Performance Rights (in this regard, refer to Sections 4.3, 4.6, 4.7, 10.5 and 
10.8) upon admission to the Official List of the ASX and pursuant to the Company’s 
ESOP. Refer to Section 4.8 for a summary of the ESOP Rules.  

(b) Tim Cooper – Non-Executive Director  

Mr Cooper has entered into a Non-Executive Director Agreement with the Company and 
will be paid a Director’s fee of $30,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation for his 
role as a Non-Executive Director. In the 2 years prior to the date of this Prospectus, 
neither Mr Cooper nor entities controlled by him have received any remuneration from the 
Company.  

Mr Cooper will be issued 250,000 Director Options and 300,000 Performance Rights (in 
this regard, refer to Sections 4.3, 4.6, 4.7, 10.5 and 10.8) upon admission to the Official 
List of the ASX and pursuant to the Company’s ESOP. Refer to Section 4.8 for a 
summary of the ESOP Rules. 

(c) Brent Van Staden – Non-Executive Director 

Mr Van Staden has entered into a Non-Executive Director Agreement with the Company 
and will be paid a Director’s fee of $30,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation for 
his role as a Non-Executive Director. In the 2 years prior to the date of this Prospectus, 
neither Mr Van Staden nor entities controlled by him have received any remuneration 
from the Company. 
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Mr Van Staden will be issued 250,000 Director Options and 300,000 Performance Rights 
(in this regard, refer to Sections 4.3, 4.6, 4.7, 10.5 and 10.8) upon admission to the 
Official List of the ASX and pursuant to the Company’s ESOP. Refer to Section 4.8 for a 
summary of the ESOP Rules. 

Mr Van Staden is a partner at Colin Biggers & Paisley lawyers who have been engaged to 
as solicitors to the Offer. Refer to Section 10.14 in relation to the interests of advisers. 

4.6 Director and Management Options 

Two classes of Options have been issued to Directors and Management, namely: 

(a) Director Options - exercise price of 30 cents, expiring 24 months after the date of 
issue; and 

(b) Chair & CEO Options - zero exercise price, expiring 24 months after the date of 
issue, provided that the relevant Director continues to hold the equivalent position 
in the Company until the date of exercise. 

The Director Options may be exercised on a "cashless" basis described in Section 4.8. 
For more information about the Director and Management Options, refer to Section 10.5. 

4.7 Performance Rights  

The Performance Rights will be subject to the following Performance Milestone 
Conditions (Milestones) and will have the following Expiry Dates:  

Class of 
Performance Right 

Milestone Expiry Date Number of 
Performance 
Rights 

Class A 
Performance Rights 

Each Class A Performance 
Right will vest and convert (at 
the election of the holder) 
into one Share upon the 
Company achieving a volume 
weighted average price for 
20 consecutive trading days 
(20 Day VWAP) exceeding 
$0.40 

Five (5) years 
from the date of 
issue 

1,300,000 

Class B 
Performance Rights 

Each Class B Performance 
Right will vest and convert (at 
the election of the holder) 
into one Share upon the 
Company achieving 20 Day 
VWAP exceeding $0.60 

Five (5) years 
from the date of 
issue 

850,000 

Class C 
Performance Rights 

Each Class C Performance 
Right will vest and convert (at 
the election of the holder) 
into one Share upon the 
Company achieving 20 Day 
VWAP exceeding $0.70 

Five (5) years 
from the date of 
issue 

375,000 

Total   2,525,000 

For more information about the terms of the Performance Rights, refer to Section 10.8. 
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4.8 Employee Share and Option Plan 

The Company has adopted an Employee Share and Option Plan (ESOP). To date, no 
securities have bene issued under the ESOP.  At close of the Offer, the Director and 
Management Options and Performance Rights will be issued under the ESOP. 

The key terms under the ESOP are summarised below: 

(a) Operation 

The Board is responsible for administering the ESOP in accordance with the ESOP 
Rules. A grant of Shares, Performance Rights and/or Options under the ESOP will be 
subject to both the ESOP Rules, ASIC Class Order 14/1000 (or any amendment to or 
replacement of that Class Order), the ASX Listing Rules, the Corporations Act and the 
terms and conditions of the specific grant. 

(b) Listing Rules 

To the extent that any provision in the ESOP is proscribed by the Listing Rules, that 
provision will have no effect and will not apply to the extent required by the Listing Rules. 

(c) Eligibility  

The ESOP is open to certain contractors and employees (including Directors, subject to 
the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act) of the Company who are invited by the 
Board to participate in the ESOP (Participants). The Board may invite Participants to 
apply for Shares or a right to the issue of Shares, Performance Rights and/or Options 
under the ESOP in its absolute discretion. 

(d) Grant  

The Board may offer Participants the right to apply for Shares, Performance Rights and/or 
Options subject to conditions and/or performance hurdles and terms of issue determined 
by the Board in its sole discretion, subject to the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations 
Act.  

(e) Vesting 

The vesting of a Performance Right will be conditional on the satisfaction of any 
conditions and performance hurdles attaching to the Performance Right. Performance 
hurdles will be determined by the Board in its discretion and specified in the Participant’s 
invitation letter.  

Where relevant performance hurdles are met, then the Performance Rights will vest and 
be convertible into Shares. 

The vesting of an Option will be conditional on the satisfaction of any conditions attaching 
to the Option. Vesting conditions will be determined by the Board in its discretion and 
specified in the Participant’s invitation letter.  

Unvested Shares will vest on conditions determined by the Board in its discretion and 
specified in the Participant’s invitation letter. 

(f) Assistance with the exercise of Options 

An offer may specify that at the time of exercise of the Options, the Participant may elect 
or that the Participant and the Directors may agree in writing that the Participant will not to 
be required to provide payment of the Exercise Price but that on exercise of those 
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Options the Company will transfer or allot to the Participant that number of Shares equal 
in value to the positive difference between the then market value of the Shares at the time 
of exercise and the Exercise Price that would otherwise be payable to exercise those 
Options (with the number of Shares rounded down to the nearest whole Share). 

An offer may specify that at the time of exercise of the Options, or Directors may agree in 
writing at any time prior to exercise of Options, that a sum equal to the aggregate 
Exercise Price of Options may be advanced by the Company to the Participant as a loan, 
on the provision that the loan is secured against and repayable only upon the sale 
of Shares, Options and Performance Rights held by the Participant (whether vested or 
not) or against other assets acceptable to the Company and repayable on terms agreed 
by the Directors. 

(g) Lapse of Performance Rights and Options 

All Performance Rights, Options and Shares that have not vested on or before the expiry 
date will automatically lapse. Performance Rights, Shares and Options will also lapse if 
the applicable performance hurdles and/or conditions attaching to them are not met within 
a prescribed period determined by the Board in its discretion. 

(h) Dealing with Performance Rights and Options 

Unvested Shares, unvested Performance Rights and unvested Options are not 
transferable, except upon the Participant’s death, to its legal personal representative. 

(i) Conversion into Shares 

Each Performance Right will entitle a Participant to one Share upon vesting. Each Option 
will entitle a Participant upon vesting to subscribe for one Share at the Exercise Price 
specified by the Board in the Participant’s invitation letter. 

Shares issued as a result of the vesting and exercise of Performance Rights and/or 
Options will rank equally with the Shares currently on issue 

(j) Maximum number of securities 

The Board may grant such number of Shares, Performance Rights and/or Options under 
the ESOP as the Board determines so long as no limit specified, imposed or calculated by 
any relevant policy or guideline of ASIC, including any regulatory guide, class order or 
condition for relief, is exceeded.  Based on the Company's capital structure at close of the 
Offer, the maximum number of Shares that the Directors may issue under the ESOP is 
1,562,500 Shares. 

(k) Hedging not allowed 

If restricted by law, a Participant may not enter into any arrangement for the purpose of 
hedging, or otherwise affecting their economic exposure to any Options or Performance 
Rights. 

(l) New issues, reorganisations of capital and winding up 

(i) Participants holding Options or Performance Rights are not entitled to 
participate in any new issue of securities to existing holders of Shares in 
the Company unless: 

(A) their Options or Performance Rights under the Plan have vested; 
and 
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(B) they exercise their Options or Performance Rights and receive 
Shares before the record date for the determination of entitlements 
to the new issue of securities and participate as a holder of 
Shares. 

(ii) In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Company will give Participants 
notice of any new issue of securities before the record date for 
determining entitlements to the new issue. 

(iii) If the Company makes a pro rata issue of Shares (except a bonus issue) 
to existing holders of Shares (other than an issue in lieu or in satisfaction 
of dividends or by way of dividend reinvestment) and no Share has been 
issued in respect of an Option or Performance Right before the record 
date for determining entitlements to the pro rata issue, the Exercise Price 
of the Option or Performance Right will be reduced according to the 
formula specified in the Listing Rules. 

(iv) If the Company makes a bonus issue of Shares to existing holders of 
Shares (other than an issue in lieu or in satisfaction of dividends or by way 
of dividend reinvestment) and no Share has been issued in respect of an 
Option or Performance Right before the record date for determining 
entitlements to the bonus issue, then the number of underlying Shares 
over which the Option or Performance Right is exercisable will be 
increased by the number of Shares which the Participant would have 
received if the Participant had exercised the Option or Performance Right 
before the record date for the bonus issue. No adjustment will be made to 
the Exercise Price. 

(v) If there is a reorganisation of the issued capital of the Company (including 
a consolidation, subdivision, reduction or return) then the rights of a 
Participant (including the number of Options or Performance Rights to 
which each Participant is entitled and the Exercise Price) will be changed 
to the extent necessary to comply with the Listing Rules applying to a 
reorganisation of capital at the time of the reorganisation. 

(m) Winding up 

If a resolution for a members’ voluntary winding up of the Company is proposed (other 
than for the purpose of a reconstruction or amalgamation) the Board may, in its absolute 
discretion, give written notice to Participants of the proposed resolution. Subject to the 
Option Vesting Conditions or Performance Right Vesting Conditions, the Participants 
may, during the period referred to in the notice, exercise their Options or Performance 
Rights. 

(n) Fractions of Shares 

Fractions in the aggregate number only will be disregarded in determining the total 
entitlement of a Participant. 

(o) Termination of employment or office 

(i) If a Participant ceases to be an officer/employee/contractor due to 
resignation, dismissal for cause or poor performance or any other 
circumstances determined by the Board to constitute the Participant a Bad 
Leaver (Bad Leaver), then, subject to compliance with the Listing Rules 
and the Corporations Act: 
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(A) any Unvested Shares held by the Participant will be forfeited by 
the Participant; 

(B) Unvested Options and Unvested Performance Rights held by the 
relevant Participant will immediately lapse; and 

(C) Vested Options or Vested Performance Rights that have not been 
exercised will lapse on the date the person ceases to be an 
employee/contractor. 

(ii) If a Participant ceases to be an employee/contractor for reasons other 
than as a Bad Leaver (Good Leaver): 

(A) all Unvested Shares held by the Participant will be forfeited by the 
Participant; 

(B) Unvested Options and Unvested Performance Rights held by the 
relevant Participant will immediately lapse; and 

(C) Vested Options or Vested Performance Rights that have not been 
exercised will continue in force and remain exercisable for 90 days 
after the Participant ceases to be an employee/contractor. 

(p) Change of Control Events 

Except to the extent otherwise provided for in an offer to a Participant, if a takeover offer 
for the Company's Shares becomes unconditional or another transaction occurs pursuant 
to which control of the Company changes (as defined in the Plan Rules, and as permitted 
by the ASX Listing Rules), all Unvested Shares, Unvested Options and Unvested 
Performance Rights held by a Participant will automatically vest and become immediately 
exercisable with such vesting deemed to have taken place immediately prior to the 
effective date of the change of control Event, regardless of whether or not the 
employment, engagement or office of the Participant is terminated or ceases in 
connection with the Change of Control Event. 

4.9 Other Fees 

A Director may be paid fees or other amounts in addition to those set in out Section 4.5 
as the Directors determine if a Director performs special duties or otherwise performs 
services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director. A Director may also be 
reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred as a result of their directorship or any 
special duties. 

4.10 Related Party Arrangements 

The Company’s policy in respect of related party arrangements is as follows:  

(a) a Director with a material personal interest in a matter is required to give notice to 
the other Directors before such a matter is considered by the Board; and  

(b) for the Board to consider such a matter, the Director who has a material personal 
interest must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting 
and may not vote on the matter.  

The Company has entered into the following related party transactions: 

(a) the Ollenburgs Acquisition Agreement (refer to Section 10.1(e)); 
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(b) executive services agreements or letters of engagement with each of its Directors  
on standard terms (refer to Section 10.1(a)(i));  

(c) the seed loan agreement with MPX; 

(d) the offer of Director and Management Options (refer to Sections 4.3, 4.6, 10.5 and 
10.8); and 

(e) Deeds of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with each of its Directors on standard 
terms. 

In addition, the Company has established the ESOP (refer to Section 4.8). 

Aside from the above, there are no other related party agreements or arrangements. 

4.11 ASX Corporate Governance Council Principles and Recommendations 

The Company has adopted comprehensive systems of control and accountability as the 
basis for the administration of corporate governance. The Board is committed to 
administering the Company's policies and procedures with openness and integrity, 
commensurate with the Company's needs. 

To the extent applicable, the Company has adopted the 4th edition of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council's Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations  
(Recommendations). 

In light of the Company's size and nature, the Board considers that the current Board is a 
cost effective and practical method of directing and managing the Company. As the 
Company's activities develop in size, nature and scope, the size of the Board and the 
implementation of additional corporate governance policies and structures will be 
reviewed. 

The Company's main corporate governance policies and practices as at the date of this 
Prospectus are detailed below. The Company's full Corporate Governance Plan will be 
available in a dedicated corporate governance information section of the Company's 
website at www.sqxresources.com.  

(a) Board of Directors 

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The Board 
develops strategies for the Company, reviews strategic objectives and monitors 
performance against those objectives. Clearly articulating the division of responsibilities 
between the Board and management will help manage expectations and avoid  
misunderstandings about their respective roles and accountabilities. In general, the Board 
assumes (amongst others) the following responsibilities: 

(i) driving the strategic direction of the Company and defining the Company's 
purpose, ensuring appropriate resources are available to meet objectives 
and monitoring management's performance; 

(ii) approving the Company's statement of values and Code of Conduct to 
ensure the desired culture within the Company is maintained and 
monitoring the implementation of such values and culture at all times; 

(iii) ensuring that an appropriate framework exists for relevant information to 
be reported by management to the Board; 

http://www.sqxresources.com/
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(iv) when required, challenging management and holding it to account, 
appointment and replacement of the Chief Executive Officer, other senior 
executives and the Company Secretary and the determination of the terms 
and conditions of their employment, including remuneration and 
termination; 

(v) approving the Company's remuneration framework and ensuring it is 
aligned with the Company's purpose, values, strategic objectives and risk 
appetite; 

(vi) monitoring the timeliness and effectiveness of reporting to Shareholders; 

(vii) reviewing and ratifying systems of audit, risk management (for both 
financial and non– financial risk) and internal compliance and control, 
codes of conduct and legal compliance to minimise the possibility of the 
Company operating beyond acceptable risk parameters; 

(viii) approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, 
capital management and significant acquisitions and divestitures; 

(ix) approving and monitoring the budget and the adequacy and integrity of 
financial and other reporting such that the financial performance of the 
Company has sufficient clarity to be actively monitored; 

(x) approving the annual, half yearly and quarterly accounts;  

(xi) approving significant changes to the organisational structure; 

(xii) approving decisions affecting the Company's capital, including determining 
the Company's dividend policy and declaring dividends; 

(xiii) recommending to Shareholders the appointment of the external auditor as 
and when their appointment or re–appointment is required to be approved 
by them (in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules if applicable); 

(xiv) ensuring a high standard of corporate governance practice and regulatory 
compliance and promoting ethical and responsible decision making; and 

(xv) procuring appropriate professional development opportunities for Directors 
to develop and maintain the skills and knowledge needed to perform their 
role as Directors effectively and to deal with new and emerging business; 
and 

(xvi) governance issues. 

The Company is committed to ensuring that appropriate checks are undertaken before 
the appointment of a Director and the Company has in place written agreements with 
each Director which detail the terms of their appointment. 

(b) Composition of the Board 

Election of Board members is substantially the province of the Shareholders in general 
meetings. The Board will consist of three non-executive Directors upon admission to the 
Official List of the ASX (of whom one is considered independent by the Board). As the 
Company's activities develop in size, nature and scope, the composition of the Board and 
the implementation of additional corporate governance policies and structures will be 
considered. 
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(c) Identification and management of risk 

The Board's collective experience will assist in the identification of the principal risks that 
may affect the Company's business. Key operational risks and their management will be 
recurring items for deliberation at Board meetings. 

(d) Ethical standards 

The Board is committed to the establishment and maintenance of appropriate ethical 
standards. 

(e) Independent professional advice 

Subject to the Chairman's approval (not to be unreasonably withheld), the Directors, at 
the Company's expense, may obtain independent professional advice on issues arising in 
the course of their duties.  

(f) Remuneration arrangements 

The remuneration of any Executive Director will be decided by the Board and must not be 
calculated as a commission on, or percentage of, operating revenue. 

None of the Directors have received any remuneration in their roles as directors prior to 
the date of this Prospectus. 

The Company’s Constitution provides that the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors 
will be not exceed the aggregate fixed sum determined by a general meeting . The 
maximum aggregate remuneration payable to the Directors (excluding salaries to 
executive directors) is $400,000 per annum, subject to future variation by Shareholders at 
a General Meeting. 

In addition, subject to any necessary Shareholder approval, a Director may be paid fees 
or other amounts as the Directors determine where a Director performs special duties or 
otherwise performs services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director (e.g. 
non-cash performance incentives such as Options). 

Directors are also entitled to be paid reasonable travel and other expenses incurred by 
them in the course of the performance of their duties as Directors.  

The Board reviews and approves the Company's remuneration policy in order to ensure 
that the Company is able to attract and retain executives and Directors who will create 
value for Shareholders, having regard to the amount considered to be commensurate for 
an entity of the Company's size and level of activity as well as the relevant Directors' time, 
commitment and responsibility. 

The Board is also responsible for reviewing any employee incentive and equity-based 
plans and offers under them, including the appropriateness of performance hurdles and 
total payments proposed. 

(g) Securities trading policy 

The Board has adopted a policy that sets out the guidelines on the sale and purchase of 
Securities in the Company by its key management personnel (i.e. Directors and, if 
applicable, any employees reporting directly to the Executive Directors). The policy 
generally provides that the written acknowledgement of the Chairman (or the Board in the 
case of the Chairman) must be obtained prior to trading. 
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(h) Diversity policy 

The Board values diversity (in its broader sense) and recognises the benefits it can bring 
to the organisation's ability to achieve its goals. However, given the current stage of the 
Company's operations and number of employees, the Company has determined at this 
stage not to formally adopt a diversity policy. The Company will re-assess this as the 
Company grows. 

(i) Audit and risk 

The Company will not have a separate audit or risk committee until such time as the 
Board is of a sufficient size and structure and the Company's operations are of a sufficient 
magnitude for a separate committee to be of benefit to the Company. In the meantime, 
the full Board will carry out the duties that would ordinarily be assigned to that committee 
under the written terms of reference for that committee, including but not limited to, 
monitoring and reviewing any matters of significance affecting financial reporting and 
compliance, the integrity of the financial reporting of the Company, the Company's 
internal financial control and risk management systems and the external audit function. 

(j) External audit  

The Company in general meetings is responsible for the appointment of the external 
auditors of the Company. The Board from time to time will review the scope, performance 
and fees of those external auditors.  

4.12 Departures from Recommendations 

Following Listing, the Company will be required to report any departures from the 
Recommendations in its annual financial report. The Company's departures from the 
Recommendations as at the date of this Prospectus are detailed in the table below. 

Principles and 
Recommendation 

Explanation for Departures 

1.5 A listed entity should 
have a diversity policy 
and disclose that policy 
at the end of each 
reporting period 

The Company does not comply with Recommendation 
1.5. The Company has not formally established a 
diversity policy given the current stage of its operations 
and the small number of employees. 

2.1 The board of a listed 
entity should have a 
nomination committee 

The Company does not comply with Principle 2.1. The 
Company is not of a relevant size to consider formation 
of a nomination committee to deal with the selection and 
appointment of new Directors and as such, a nomination 
committee has not been formed.  
Nominations of new Directors are considered by the full 
Board. If any vacancies arise on the Board, all directors 
are involved in the search and recruitment of a 
replacement. The Board has taken a view that the full 
Board will hold special meetings or sessions as required.  
The Board is confident that this process for selection 
(including undertaking appropriate checks before 
appointing a person or putting forward to Shareholders a 
candidate for election) and review is stringent and full 
details of all Directors will be provided to Shareholders in 
the annual report and on the Company's website. 
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2.2 The board of a listed 
entity should have and 
disclose a board skills 
matrix setting out the 
mix of skills and diversity 
that the board currently 
has or is looking to 
achieve in its membership. 

The Board does not maintain a formal Board Skills 
Matrix, as the Board considers that such a matrix is not 
necessary given the current size and scope of the 
Company’s operations. 
The Board may adopt such a matrix at a later time as the 
Company’s operations grow and evolve 

2.4 A majority of the 
board of a listed entity 
should be independent 
directors. 

Given the Company's present size and scope, it is 
currently not the Company's policy to have a majority of 
independent Directors. 
Directors have been selected to bring specific skills and 
industry experience to the Company. The Board has an 
expansive range of relevant industry experience, 
financial, legal and other skills and expertise to meet its 
objectives.  
The Board will have one independent Director upon 
admission to the Official List of the ASX.  

4.1 The board of a listed 
entity should have an 
audit committee of at 
least three members that 
are non-executive. 

The Board has not established a separate audit 
committee. The full Board carries out the duties that 
would ordinarily be assigned to the audit committee.  
The Board considers that the Company is not currently of 
a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity to justify 
having, a separate audit committee. 

7.1 The board of a listed 
entity should have a risk 
committee. 

The Board has not established a separate Risk 
Management Committee. The Board is ultimately 
responsible for risk oversight and risk management.  
Discussions on the recognition and management of risks 
are considered by the Board.  
The Board considers that the Company is not currently of 
a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity to justify 
having a separate risk committee. 

8.1 The board of a listed 
entity should have a 
remuneration committee 
of at least three 
members, a majority of 
whom are independent. 

The Board as a whole performs the function of the 
Remuneration Committee, which includes setting the 
Company's remuneration structure, determining 
eligibilities to incentive schemes, assessing performance 
and remuneration of senior management and 
determining the remuneration and incentives of the 
Board.  
The Board may obtain external advice from independent 
consultants in determining the Company's remuneration 
practices, including remuneration levels, where 
considered appropriate. 
The Board considers that the Company is not currently of 
a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity to justify 
having a separate Remuneration Committee. 
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5. Details of the Offer 

5.1 Offer 

(a) Details 

This Prospectus invites applications for 25,000,000 Shares at an issue price of $0.20 
each to raise $5,000,000 (before associated costs), and 1 free attaching Loyalty Option 
for every 2 Shares issued, with an exercise price of $0.30 per Loyalty Option and an 
expiry date of 36 months from the issue date. (Offer). 

The Shares to be issued pursuant to the Offer are of the same class and will rank equally 
with the existing Shares on issue. The rights and liabilities attaching to the Shares are 
further described in Section 10.2. 

Applications for Shares under the Offer must be made on the Application Form 
accompanying this Prospectus and received by the Company on or before the relevant 
Closing Date. Persons wishing to apply for Shares under the Offer should refer to Section 
5.11 for further details and instructions. 

The Company does not intend to apply for quotation of the Loyalty Options on ASX. Upon 
exercise of a Loyalty Option and payment of the exercise price, the Company will issue 
one fully paid Share to the optionholder. Loyalty Options will be issued automatically to 
Applicants on the date on which Shares are issued under the Offer. Applicants are not 
required to take any additional action to receive Loyalty Options. The rights and liabilities 
attaching to the Loyalty Options are now set out in Section 10.4 of the Prospectus. 

(b) Subscription amount 

The minimum amount which must be raised under the Offer is $5,000,000, being 
25,000,000 Shares at $0.20 each (Subscription Amount). The Company will not issue 
any Shares under this Prospectus until the Subscription Amount is achieved. 

If the Subscription Amount has not been reached within 3 months from the date of this 
Prospectus, the Company will either repay your Application Monies or issue a 
supplementary prospectus or replacement (refresh) prospectus. If the Company issues a 
supplementary or replacement prospectus, the Company will allow you one month to 
withdraw your Application and, if you do so, the Company will repay your Application 
Monies. No interest will be paid on these moneys. 

The Company does not intend to accept subscriptions in excess of the Subscription 
Amount – excess subscriptions will be dealt with in accordance with the allocation policy 
(see Section 5.15). 

(c) Objectives of the Offer 

The objectives of the Offer are to: 

(i) raise capital to fund exploration and development activities on the 
Company’s Prospects in accordance with the exploration and 
development budgets as set out in Section 5.3 and the Independent 
Geologist’s Report in Section 8;  

(ii) list on the ASX, which will provide the Company with improved access to 
capital markets; 

(iii) enhance the public and financial profile of the Company to facilitate further 
growth of the Company’s business; and  
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(iv) provide working capital for the Company. 

(d) Offer period for Offer 

The opening date for the Offer is 7 December 2022. The Offer will remain open until the 
Closing Date, which is 5.00pm on 14 December 2022 (unless varied). 

The Directors may open and close the Offer on any other date and time, without prior 
notice. You are encouraged to submit your Application as early as possible. 

No Shares will be issued on the basis of this Prospectus later than 13 months after the 
date of this Prospectus. 

5.2 Offer not underwritten 

The Offer is not underwritten. 

5.3 Proposed use of funds 

Following the Offer, it is anticipated that the following funds will be available to the 
Company: 

Source of funds Amount 
Cash on hand at 30 June 2022 1 $226,000 
Cash from acquisition of Ollenburgs Pty Ltd $100 
Seed funding provided from 30 June 2022 to date of 
lodgement of Prospectus $75,000 

Proceeds from Offer $5,000,000 
Cash expenses of the Offer 2 $(696,001) 
Repayment of seed loans $(300,000) 
Net cash after costs of the Offer $4,305,099 

Note:  
1. Refer to the pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position in Section 6.6 for pro forma cash as 
at 30 June 2022. 
2. Refer to Section 10.16 for information about the expenses of the Offer. Cash expenses of the Offer 
represent 13.9% of funds raised under the Offer. 

The following table shows the intended use of funds in the two-year period following 
Listing: 

Use of net proceeds Subscription Amount % 

Exploration and development 1 $3,023,787 70% 

Administration costs 2 $1,113,485 26% 

Working capital 2 $167,827 4% 

Total funds allocated $4,305,099 100% 

Notes: 
1. Refer to the Independent Geologists Report in Section 8 for further information on the Company's 
proposed exploration programme and budget. 
2. Working capital and administration costs include the general costs associated with the management 
and operation of the Company's business, including administration expenses, management salaries, 
directors’ fees, rent, Tenement maintenance costs and other associated costs. To the extent that: 

(a) the Company’s exploration activities warrant further exploration activities; or 
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(b) the Company is presented with additional acquisition opportunities, 
the Company’s working capital will fund such further exploration and acquisition costs (including due 
diligence investigations and expert’s fees in relation to such acquisitions). Amounts not so expended will 
be applied towards administration costs for the period following the initial two-year period following the 
Company’s listing on the ASX. 
The above table is a statement of current intentions as of the date of this Prospectus. As with any 
budget, intervening events (including exploration success or failure) and new circumstances have the 
potential to affect the manner in which the funds are ultimately applied. The Board reserves the right to 
alter the way funds are applied on this basis.  

5.4 Potential further acquisitions 

The Company proposes to actively pursue further acquisitions which complement its 
existing focus. If and when a viable investment opportunity is identified, the Board may 
elect to acquire or exploit such opportunity by way of acquisition, joint venture or earn-in 
arrangement, which may involve the payment of consideration in cash, equity or a 
combination of both. 

5.5 Sufficiency of working capital 

The Board believes that the funds raised from the Offer will provide the Company with 
sufficient working capital to achieve its stated objectives as detailed in this Prospectus. It 
should however be noted that an investment in the Company is highly speculative and 
investors are encouraged to read the risk factors outlined in Section 3.  

5.6 Further equity funding 

The use of further equity funding may be considered by the Board where it is appropriate 
to accelerate a specific project or strategy.  

Based on the intended use of funds detailed above, the amounts raised pursuant to the 
Offer will provide the Company with sufficient funding for 2 years of operations. As the 
Company has no operating revenue, the Company is likely to require further financing in 
the future. See Section 3.2(g) for further details about the risks associated with the 
Company's future capital requirements and Section 3 generally for risks facing the 
Company. 

5.7 Capital Structure 

On completion of the Offer, the capital structure of the Company will be as set out below: 

Shares: 

 Subscription Amount % 
Total number of Shares on issue as at the date of this 
Prospectus 1 6,250,000 20.0 

Shares to be issued under the Offer 2 25,000,000 80.0 
Total number of Shares on completion of the Offer  31,250,000 100.0 

Notes: 
1. Certainty of the Shares currently on issue may be subject to ASX escrow provisions restricting 

their transferability as set out in Section 5.18. Shares issued under this Prospectus will rank 
equally with the existing Shares on issue. The key rights attaching to the Shares are 
summarised at Section 10.2 of this Prospectus. Refer to Section 4.3 for the interests of Directors 
in the Company's Securities. 

2. Assumes no Options are exercised. 

Options: 
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Director and Management Options 1 3,350,000 
Lead Manager Options 2 3,335,478 
Loyalty Options 3 12,500,000 
Existing Options 4 3,125,000 
Total Options at completion of the Offer 5 22,310,478 

Notes: 
1. The vesting conditions and other terms of the Director and Management Options are set out in 

Sections 4.6 and 10.5. 
2. Refer to Section 10.6 for the key terms of the Lead Manager Options. 
3. Refer to Section 10.4 for the key terms of the Loyalty Options. 
4. Refer to Section 10.3 for the key terms of the Existing Options. 
5. Refer to Section 10.7 for the general terms and conditions of all Options. 

 
Performance Rights 1: 
  
Class A Performance Rights 1,300,000 
Class B Performance Rights 850,000 
Class C Performance Rights 375,000 
Total Performance Rights at completion of the Offer  2,525,000 

Notes: 
1. The vesting conditions and other terms of the Performance Rights are set out in Sections 4.7 and 

10.8. 

5.8 Substantial Holders as at the date of this Prospectus 

Shareholders (and their associates) holding an interest in 5% or more of the Shares on 
issue as at the date of this Prospectus are set out in the table below. 

Shareholder Name Number of Shares 1  % at date of 
Prospectus 

% at close of 
the Offer 

Mining Projects Accelerator 
Pty Ltd 

2,695,700 43.1% 8.6% 

Wechsel Enterprises Pte Ltd 602,006 9.6% 1.9% 
Long Life Strategic 
Investments Pty Ltd 

602,006 9.6% 1.9% 

Notes: 
1. Assumes the Share Split is approved by Shareholders - refer to Section 10.12(a). 
2. Refer to Section 10.2 for a summary of the rights attaching to the Shares, Section 4.3 for the 

interests of Directors in the Company's securities and Section 5.7 for a summary of the Company's 
capital structure. 

3. Refer to Section 10.1(a)(i) for information about the maximum potential relevant interest that the 
Lead Manager may obtain in the Company and Section 5.8 for details of the Company's substantial 
shareholders as at the date of this Prospectus. 

The Company will announce to ASX details of its top 20 Shareholders (following 
completion of the Offer) prior to the Shares commencing trading on ASX. 

5.9 Forecasts 

The Directors have considered the matters detailed in ASIC Regulatory Guide 170 and 
believe that they do not have a reasonable basis to forecast future earnings on the basis 
that the operations of the Company are inherently uncertain. Accordingly, any forecast or 
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projection information would contain such a broad range of potential outcomes and 
possibilities that it is not possible to prepare a reliable best estimate forecast or projection. 

The Directors consequently believe that, given these inherent uncertainties, it is not 
possible to include reliable forecasts in this Prospectus.  

Refer to Section 2 for further information in respect to the Company's proposed activities. 

5.10 Withdrawal 

The Directors may at any time decide to withdraw this Prospectus and the Offer, in which 
case the Company will return all Application Monies (without interest) within 28 days of 
giving notice of their withdrawal.  

5.11 Applications 

(a) General 

Applications for Securities under the Offer can only be made using the relevant 
Application Form accompanying this Prospectus or otherwise provided by the Company. 
For further information on how to complete the Application Form, Applicants should refer 
to the instructions set out on the form. 

No brokerage, stamp duty or other costs are payable by Applicants. All Application 
Monies will be paid into a trust account. Applicants wishing to provide Application Monies 
via BPAY® should follow the instructions on the Application Form or contact the 
Company. 

(b) Payment 

Investors can apply online with payment made electronically via BPAY®. Investors 
applying online will be directed to use an online Application Form and make payment by 
BPAY®. Investors will be given a BPAY® biller code and a customer reference number 
unique to the online Application once the online Application Form has been completed. 

BPAY® payments must be made from an Australian dollar account of an Australian 
institution. Using the BPAY® details, Investors must: 

(A) access their participating BPAY® Australian financial institution either via 
telephone or internet banking;  

(B) select to use BPAY® and follow the prompts; enter the biller code and 
unique customer reference number that corresponds to the online 
Application; 

(C) enter the amount to be paid which corresponds to the value of Shares 
under the online Application; 

(D) select which account payment is to be made from;  

(E) schedule the payment to occur on the same day that the online 
Application Form is completed. Applications without payment will not be 
accepted; and 

(F) record and retain the BPAY® receipt number and date paid. 

Investors should confirm with their Australian financial institution: 
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(A) whether there are any limits on the Investor's account that may limit the 
amount of any BPAY® payment; and 

(B) the cut off time for the BPAY® payment. 

Investors can apply online by following the instructions at www.sqxresources.com and 
completing a BPAY® payment. If payment is not made via BPAY®, the Application will be 
incomplete and will not be accepted. The online Application Form and BPAY® payment 
must be completed and received by no later than the Closing Date.  

A completed and lodged Application Form together with confirmation of BPAY® payment 
for any Application Monies (for applications under the Offer), constitutes a binding and 
irrevocable offer to subscribe for the number of Shares specified in the Application Form. 
If the Application Form is not completed correctly or if the accompanying payment is for 
the wrong amount, it may still be treated by the Company as valid. The Directors’ decision 
as to whether to treat such an Application as valid and how to construe or complete the 
Application Form is final. However, an Applicant will not be treated as having applied for 
more Shares than is indicated by the amount of BPAY® payment for the Application 
Monies. 

It is the responsibility of Applicants outside Australia to obtain all necessary approvals for 
the allotment and issue of Securities pursuant to this Prospectus.  

The submission of a completed Application Form with the requisite Application Monies 
(for applications under the Offer) will be taken by the Company to constitute a 
representation and warranty by the Applicant that all relevant approvals have been 
obtained and that the Applicant: 

(A) agrees to be bound by the terms of the relevant Offer; 

(B) declares that all details and statements in the Application Form are 
complete and accurate; 

(C) declares that, if they are an individual, they are over 18 years of age and 
have full legal capacity and power to perform all its rights and obligations 
under the Application Form; 

(D) authorises the Company and its respective officers or agents, to do 
anything on their behalf necessary for the Securities to be issued to them, 
including to act on instructions of the Company's Share Registry upon 
using the contact details set out in the Application Form; 

(E) acknowledges that the information contained in, or accompanying, the 
Prospectus is not investment or financial product advice or a 
recommendation that Securities are suitable for them given their 
investment objectives, financial situation or particular needs; and 

(F) acknowledges that the Securities have not, and will not be, registered 
under the securities laws in any other jurisdictions outside Australia and 
accordingly, the Securities may not be offered, sold or otherwise 
transferred except in accordance with an available exemption from, or in a 
transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of applicable 
securities laws. 

The Offer may be closed at an earlier date and time at the discretion of the Directors, 
without prior notice. Applicants are therefore encouraged to submit their Application 
Forms as early as possible. However, the Company reserves the right to extend the Offer 
or accept late Applications. 

https://sqxresources-my.sharepoint.com/personal/mpurcell_sqxresources_com/Documents/SQX%20Working%20Files/Prospectus/www.sqxresources.com
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(c) Offer Applications 

Applications under the Offer must be for a minimum of 10,000 Shares ($2,000) and then 
in increments of 2,500 Shares ($500). 

5.12 CHESS and issuer sponsorship 

The Company will apply to participate in CHESS. All trading on the ASX will be settled 
through CHESS. ASX Settlement, a wholly owned subsidiary of the ASX, operates 
CHESS in accordance with the Listing Rules and the ASX Settlement Operating Rules. 
On behalf of the Company, the Share Registry will operate an electronic issuer sponsored 
subregister and an electronic CHESS sub-register. The two sub-registers together make 
up the Company's principal register of Securities. 

Under CHESS, the Company will not issue certificates to Security holders. Rather, 
holding statements (similar to bank statements) will be sent to Security holders as soon 
as practicable after allotment. Holding statements will be sent either by CHESS (for 
Security holders who elect to hold Securities on the CHESS sub-register) or by the 
Company's Share Registry (for Security holders who elect to hold their Securities on the 
issuer sponsored sub-register). The statements will set out the number of existing 
Securities (where applicable) and the number of new Securities allotted under this 
Prospectus and provide details of a Security holder's holder identification number (for 
Security holders who elect to hold Securities on the CHESS sub-register) or Security 
holder reference number (for Security holders who elect to hold their Securities on the 
issuer sponsored sub-register). Updated holding statements will also be sent to each 
Security holders at the end of each month in which there is a transaction on their holding, 
as required by the Listing Rules. 

5.13 ASX Listing and Official Quotation 

Within 7 days after the date of this Prospectus, the Company will apply to ASX for 
admission to the Official List and for the Shares, including those offered by this 
Prospectus, to be granted Official Quotation (apart from any Shares that may be 
designated by ASX as restricted securities). The Company will not apply for quotation of 
any Options on the ASX. 

If ASX does not grant permission for Official Quotation within three months after the date 
of this Prospectus (or within such longer period as may be permitted by ASIC), none of 
the Securities offered under the Offer will be allotted and issued. If no allotment and issue 
is made, all Application Monies will be refunded to Applicants (without interest) as soon 
as practicable or the Company will issue a supplementary prospectus or replacement 
prospectus and allow Applicants one month to withdraw their Applications and have their 
Application Monies refunded to them (without interest). 

ASX takes no responsibility for the contents of this Prospectus. The fact that ASX may 
grant Official Quotation is not to be taken in any way as an indication of the merits of the 
Company or the Securities offered pursuant to this Prospectus. 

5.14 Application Monies to be held in trust 

Application Monies will be held in trust for Applicants until the allotment of the Securities 
under the Offer. Any interest that accrues will be retained by the Company.  

5.15 Allocation and issue of Shares 

The Directors, in conjunction with the Lead Manager, will allocate Shares under the Offer 
at their sole discretion with a view to ensuring an appropriate Shareholder base for the 
Company going forward (subject to any regulatory requirements).  
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There is no assurance that any Applicant will be allocated any Shares, or the number of 
Shares for which it has applied. The Company reserves the right to reject any Application 
or to issue a lesser number of Shares than those applied for. Where the number of 
Shares issued is less than the number applied for, surplus Application Monies will be 
refunded (without interest) as soon as reasonably practicable after the relevant Closing 
Date. 

Securities under the Offer are expected to be allotted on the Issue Date.  

It is the responsibility of Applicants to determine their allocation prior to trading in the 
Securities issued under the Offer. Applicants who sell Securities before they receive their 
holding statements do so at their own risk. 

5.16 Risks 

Prospective investors should be aware that an investment in the Company should be 
considered highly speculative and involves a number of risks inherent in the various 
business segments of the Company. Section 3 details key risk factors which prospective 
investors should be aware of. It is recommended that prospective investors consider 
these risks carefully before deciding whether to invest in the Company. 

This Prospectus should be read in its entirety, as it provides information for prospective 
investors to decide whether to invest in the Company. If you have any questions about 
the desirability of, or procedure for, investing in the Company, please contact your 
stockbroker, accountant or other independent adviser. 

5.17 Overseas Applicants 

No action has been taken to register or qualify the Securities, or the Offer, or otherwise to 
permit the offering of the Securities, in any jurisdiction outside of Australia. 

The distribution of this Prospectus within jurisdictions outside of Australia and New 
Zealand may be restricted by law and persons into whose possession this Prospectus 
comes should inform themselves about and observe, any such restrictions. Any failure to 
comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of those laws.  

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of Securities in any jurisdiction where, or to 
any person to whom, it would be unlawful to issue this Prospectus.  

It is the responsibility of any overseas Applicant to ensure compliance with all laws of any 
country relevant to his or her Application. The return of a duly completed Application Form 
will be taken by the Company to constitute a representation and warranty that there has 
been no breach of such law and that all necessary approvals and consents have been 
obtained. 

5.18 Escrow arrangements 

ASX will classify certain existing Securities on issue in the Company as being subject to 
the restricted securities provisions of the Listing Rules. Restricted Securities will be 
required to be held in escrow for up to 24 months and will not be able to be sold, 
mortgaged, pledged, assigned or transferred for that period without the prior approval of 
ASX. During the period in which these Securities are prohibited from being transferred, 
trading in Shares may be less liquid which may impact on the ability of a Security holder 
to dispose of its Securities in a timely manner. 

None of the Shares issued pursuant to the Offer are expected to be restricted securities. 
All of the Securities issued to the Lead Manager (or its nominees) are expected to be 
Restricted Securities.  
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The Company anticipates that upon Listing, approximately 6,250,000 Shares and 
9,810,478 Options may be classified as Restricted Securities by ASX, which Shares 
comprise approximately 20% of the Company's Shares on issue and 84% of all Options 
on issue, at Completion of the Offer.  

The Company confirms its ‘free float’ (the percentage of the Shares that are not restricted 
and are held by shareholders who are not related parties (or their associates) of the 
Company) at the time of listing will be not less than 20% in compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule 1.1 Condition 7. 

Prior to the Company's Shares being admitted to Official Quotation on the ASX, the 
Company will enter into escrow agreements with, or issue a restriction notice to, the 
recipients of any Restricted Securities in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and the 
Company will announce to ASX full details (quantity and duration) of the Securities 
required to be held in escrow prior to the Shares commencing trading on ASX. 

5.19 Arrangements with brokers 

PAC Partners Securities Pty Ltd is Lead Manager to the Offer. The material terms of the 
Lead Manager Agreement are summarised in Section 10.1. 

5.20 Lead Manager Offer 

This Prospectus also includes an offer of Lead Manager Options to the Lead Manager (or 
its nominees) as part consideration for services provided to the Company in relation to the 
Offer, in accordance with the terms of the Lead Manager Agreement (refer Section 
10.1(a)(i)). Refer to Section 10.6 for further information regarding the rights attaching to 
the Lead Manager Options. 

Only the Lead Manager (or its nominees) may accept the Lead Manager Offer. 

5.21 Privacy disclosure 

Persons who apply for Securities pursuant to this Prospectus are asked to provide 
personal information to the Company, either directly or through the Share Registry.  

The Company and the Share Registry collect, hold and use that personal information to 
assess Applications for Securities, to provide facilities and services to Security holders 
and to carry out various administrative functions. Access to the information collected may 
be provided to the Company's agents and service providers and to ASX, ASIC and other 
regulatory bodies on the basis that they deal with such information in accordance with 
relevant privacy laws. If you do not provide the information required on the relevant 
Application Form, the Company may not be able to accept or process your Application. 

An Applicant has a right to gain access to the information that the Company holds about 
that it, subject to certain exemptions under law. A fee may be charged for access. Access 
requests must be made in writing to the Company's registered office. 

5.22 Paper copies of Prospectus 

The Company will provide paper copies of this Prospectus (including any supplementary 
or replacement document) and the relevant Application Form to investors upon request 
and free of charge. Requests for a paper copy from should be directed to the Share 
Registry by calling the Offer helpline on +61 1800 426 150. 
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5.23 Enquiries 

This Prospectus provides information for potential investors in the Company and should 
be read in its entirety. If, after reading this Prospectus, you have any questions about any 
aspect of an investment in the Company, please contact your stockbroker, accountant or 
independent financial adviser.  

Questions relating to the Offer and the completion of an Application Form can be directed 
to the Share Registry by calling the Offer helpline on +61 1800 426 150. 
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6. Financial Information Section 

6.1 Introduction 

The directors of the Company have prepared the Financial Information as set out below 
for inclusion in this Prospectus. 

The Company was incorporated on 2 May 2022 and since that time, the Company in a 
start-up phase has not commenced business and had limited transactions. As a result, 
the Company is not able to disclose any key financial information other than the 
information referred to below and the information included in the Financial Information set 
out below. 

The Pro-Forma Historical Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022 referred to 
below is derived from the historical statement of financial position of the Company as at 
30 June 2022, adjusted to reflect the acquisition of tenements currently held by 
Ollenburgs Pty Ltd (“Ollenburgs”) and the impact of the Offer. 

The Pro-Forma Historical Statement of Financial Position reflects the Company 
acquisition of the tenements held by Ollenburgs achieved by the acquisition of 100% of 
the issued shares in Ollenburgs in consideration for $1.00 each in cash. The Directors 
have exercised judgement and concluded that the acquisition of Ollenburgs does not 
meet the definition of a business combination under AASB 3 Business Combinations. 
Therefore, the transaction has been accounted for as an asset acquisition and presented 
as a pro forma adjustment.  

As the entity to be acquired is not operating a business and the acquisition does not meet 
the definition of a business combination, the historical financial information of Ollenburgs 
has not been separately provided as it is not considered material and is not considered 
relevant to the users of the Prospectus. However, the Pro Forma Historical Statement of 
Financial Position and notes to the financial statements set out below, adequately 
disclose the financial position of Ollenburgs at the time of acquisition and the impact of 
the acquisition on the new consolidated pro forma position of the Company. 

6.2 Financial information 

The Financial Information contained in this Section 6 has been prepared by the Directors 
and sets out the historical financial information (“Historical Financial Information”) and pro 
forma financial information (“Pro Forma Historical Financial Information”) of the Company 
(together “the Financial Information”) and the basis for preparation and presentation. 

The Financial Information has been provided by the Directors to potential investors to 
assist with their understanding of the historical financial performance, cash flows and 
financial position of the Company. 

Historical Financial Information consisting of: 

• The audited historical Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income and Statement of Cash Flows for the period from incorporation to 30 June 
2022; and 

• The audited historical Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022. 

The Historical Financial Information has been derived from the audited financial 
statements of SQX for the period ended 30 June 2022. The financial statements of the 
Company for the period ended 30 June 2022 have been audited by PKF Brisbane Audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. PKF Brisbane Audit issued an unmodified 
audit opinion in respect of this period.  
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Pro Forma Historical Financial Information consisting of: 

• the Pro Forma Historical Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022; and 
the associated details of the pro forma adjustments. 

The Pro Forma Historical Financial Information has been derived from the historical 
financial information of the Company, after adjusting for the effects of the subsequent 
events and the pro forma adjustments described in Section 6.7 of this Prospectus. The 
stated basis of preparation is the recognition and measurement principles contained in 
Australian Accounting Standards applied to the Historical Financial Information and the 
event(s) or transactions to which the pro forma adjustments relate, as described in 
Section 6.7 of this Prospectus, as if those event(s) or transactions had occurred as at the 
30 June 2022, being the date of the historical financial information. 

The Pro Forma Historical Financial Information has been compiled by the Company to 
illustrate the impact of the event(s) or transactions described in Section 6.7 of the 
Prospectus on the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2022. As part of this 
process, information about the Company’s financial position has been extracted from the 
Company’s audited financial statements for the period from incorporation to 30 June 
2022.   

The financial information for Ollenburgs Pty Ltd included in the Pro Forma Historical 
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022 has been derived from the audited 
financial statements of Ollenburgs for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 audited by 
PKF Brisbane Audit which issued unmodified opinions for each entity in respect of this 
year. 

Due to its nature, the Pro Forma Historical Financial Information does not represent the 
Company’s actual or prospective financial position and is unaudited but has been 
reviewed by PKF Brisbane Audit (see the Independent Limited Assurance Report in 
Section 7 of this prospectus). 

6.3 Basis of preparation and presentation 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Financial 
Information. 

Given the fact that the Company is an early-stage resources business, there are 
significant uncertainties associated with forecasting the future revenues and expenses of 
the Company. On this basis the Directors believe that there is no reasonable basis for the 
inclusion of financial forecasts in this Prospectus.  

The Financial Information included in this Prospectus is intended to present potential 
investors with information to assist them in understanding the underlying historical 
financial performance, cash flows and statement of financial position of the Company.  

The Financial Information has been prepared and presented in accordance with the 
recognition and measurement principles prescribed in Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting interpretations), issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the accounting policies adopted by the Company. 

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the Financial Information 
complies with the recognition and measurement principles of International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

The Financial Information is presented in an abbreviated form and does not contain all the 
disclosures, statements or comparative information required by the Australian Accounting 



 

65 

Standards applicable to annual financial reports prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act. 

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Financial Information 
are summarised in Section 6.14 and have been consistently applied by the Company 
throughout the periods presented. 

6.4 Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period ended 
30 June 2022  

 

SQX  
2 May 2022 to 
30 June 2022 

(Audited) 
$ 

Revenue  

Other Income - 

Expenses  

Corporate and administration expenses - 
Profit / (loss) before income tax, attributable to 
members - 

Income Tax Expense - 

Profit / (loss) for the period, attributable to members - 

Other comprehensive income - 
Total other comprehensive income for the period, 
net of tax, attributable to members - 

This statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income shows the historical 
financial performance of the Company and is to be read in conjunction with the notes to 
and forming part of the historical financial information set out in Section 6.6 for the basis 
of preparation. 
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6.5  Statement of cash flows for the period ended 30 June 2022  

 

SQX 
2 May 2022 to 
30 June 2022 

(Audited) 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities  
Payments to suppliers and employees - 
GST payable/(refundable) - 
Cash used in operating activities - 
  
Cash flows from investing activities  
Payments for exploration and evaluation assets: - 
Payments for acquisition of tenements - 
Net cash used in investing activities - 
  
Proceeds from related party loans 225,000 
Proceeds from issue of shares 1,000 
Net cash provided by financing activities 226,000 
  
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 226,000 
  
Cash at beginning of the period - 
Cash end of the period 226,000 

 

This statement of cash flows shows the historical cash flows of the Company and is to be 
read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the historical financial information 
set out in Section 6.6.  
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6.6 Statement of financial position and pro forma historical statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2022  

 
 

Statement of Financial 
Position 

 
SQX 

30 June 
2022 

 
 

(Audited) 

  
Pro Forma Adjustments 

as at 30 June 2022 
 

(Reviewed) 

 
SQX  

Pro Forma 
30 June 

2022 
 

(Reviewed) 
   Additional 

Seed 
Funding 

Acquisition 
Notes 2 

IPO  

  
($) 

 
Notes 

  
($) 

 
($) 

 
($) 

Current Assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 226,000 3,4,10 75,000 100 4,003,999 4,305,099 
Other receivables -   - - - 
Total Current Assets 226,000  75,000 100 4,003,999 4,305,099 
       
Non Current Assets       
Exploration and evaluation 
assets 

-  - - - - 

Total Non Current Assets -  - - - - 
       
TOTAL ASSETS 226,000  75,000 100 4,003,999 4,305,099 
       
       
Current Liabilities       
Trade and other payables -  - - - - 
Loans from related parties 225,000 10 75,000 100 (300,000) 100 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 225,000  - 100 (300,000) 100 
       
NET ASSETS 1,000  - - 4,303,999 4,304,999 
       
EQUITY       
Issued capital 1,000 3 - - 5,000,000 5,001,000 
Capital raising costs - 4,6 - - (930,022) (930,022) 
Reserves - 4,5,6,7,8 - - 1,310,023 1,310,023 
Accumulated losses - 4,5,7,8 - - (1,076,002) (1,076,002) 
TOTAL EQUITY 1,000  - - 4,303,999 4,304,999 

The Pro Forma Historical Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022 is derived 
from the historical statement of financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2022, 
adjusted to reflect the acquisition of Ollenburgs, the impact of the Offer and the other pro-
forma events described fully in Section 6.7 below.  

The Pro Forma Historical Statement of Financial Position is provided for illustrative 
purposes and is not represented as being necessarily indicative of the Company’s view of 
its statement of financial position upon completion of the Offer or at a future date. Further 
information on the sources and uses of the funds of the Offer is contained in Section 5.3.  
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6.7  Description of pro forma adjustments  

The following pro-forma adjustments have been made to the statement of financial 
position at 30 June 2022 in relation to events and other transactions which are proposed 
to occur immediately before or on completion of the Offer: 

1. Subsequent to 30 June 2022, the Company has proposed a split of all shares on 
issue as at 30 June 2022. The share split was 6.25 new shares for every one (1) 
share held resulting in 6,250,000 issued shares. 

2. Under the terms of the Ollenburgs Acquisition Agreement with related entity 
Ollenburgs and upon listing on the ASX, the Company will purchase 100% of the 
issued shares in Ollenburgs for $1 in cash (“the Acquisition”). The Directors have 
determined that the Acquisition does not meet the definition of a business 
combination under AASB 3 Business Combinations. Therefore, the transaction has 
been accounted for as an asset acquisition. Under the asset acquisition accounting 
policy adopted, the costs of the Acquisition are allocated to the assets acquired based 
on relative fair values. 

3. The Offer is to issue 25,000,000 new fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at the 
offer price of $0.20 per share to raise $5,000,000 (before costs and expenses). 

4. Total estimated costs related to the Offer of $1,046,226 is inclusive of share-based 
payments of $350,225 and inclusive of non-recoverable GST. Total cash cost of the 
Offer is $696,001 paid on Admission. Based on the accounting treatment the total 
costs of the Offer are split between the costs of the listing on the ASX and the costs of 
raising capital. Under the relevant standard the costs of listing of $116,204 have been 
expensed to increase accumulated losses while the direct capital raising costs of 
$930,022 has been offset against contributed equity.  

5. In accordance with the terms of appointment, the Company will, on Admission Date, 
issue 1,000,000 Chair and CEO Options to non-executive Chairman of Directors, Mr 
Bryan Granzien and 1,000,000 Chair and CEO Options to the CEO, Mr Mark Purcell. 
Each option vesting immediately on admission and exercisable at $0.00 with an 
expiry date that is 2 years from the Admission Date. The 2,000,000 Chair and CEO 
Options granted have been valued at $400,000 using the Black Scholes option pricing 
model.  

6. In accordance with AASB 2: Share based payment, the full value of the 2,000,000 
Chair and CEO Options of $400,000 is expensed as a share based payment on issue 
and recognised as an increase in Option Reserves and accumulated losses. 

7. The Company will issue 3,335,478 Lead Manager Options (“Lead Manager Options”) 
vesting immediately on admission and exercisable at $0.30 with an expiry date that is 
3 years from the Admission Date. The Lead Manager Options have been valued at 
$350,225 using the Black Scholes option pricing model.  

8. In accordance with AASB 2: Share based payment, the total value of the Lead 
Manager Options of $350,225, vest immediately and is expensed as at the Admission 
Date and recognised as part of the total estimated direct capital raising costs of 
$930,022 that has been offset against contributed equity as set out in 4 above 
together with an increase in Option Reserves. 

9. The Company will issue 1,350,000 Director Options (“Director Options”) vesting 
immediately on admission and exercisable at $0.30 with an expiry date that is 2 years 
from the Admission Date. The Director Options have been independently valued at 
$111,375 using the Black Scholes option pricing model. In accordance with AASB 2: 
Share based payment, as the Director Options vested immediately on Admission the 
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value has been expensed with an increase in Option reserves and accumulated 
losses. 

10. The Company will issue 2,525,000 Performance Securities to the CEO and Directors 
which will convert upon the Company achieving 20 consecutive trading days at 
various volume weighted average prices. The Performance Securities have been 
independently valued at $448,423 using the Black Scholes option pricing model.  

11. In accordance with AASB 2: Share based payment, as the Performance Securities 
vested immediately on Admission the value has been expensed with an increase in 
Option reserves and accumulated losses. 

12. The Company will issue 12,500,000 Loyalty Options (“Loyalty Options”) to new 
shareholders at the time of listing on the basis of one option for every 2 shares 
allocated and 3,125,000 Existing Options (“Existing Options”) to existing shareholders 
on the basis of one option for every 2 held shares. Both options will be exercisable 
from the Admission Date at $0.30 on a pro rata basis over a three-year period to 
expiry.  

13. In accordance with AASB 2: Share based payment, the Loyalty Options and Existing 
Options were issued to shareholders in their capacity as a shareholder and 
accordingly do not meet the definition of a share-based payment under the scope of 
AASB 2. Therefore, as at the pro forma date, these options have not been valued and 
no adjustment has yet been made to account for the vesting of these options.  

14. The Company will make cash payments totalling $300,000 to settle related party 
Seed Loan arrangements immediately following Listing. The seed loans were used to 
fund the Company’s activities for the period from incorporation to the date of 
admission. As at 30 June 2022, the balance drawn was $225,000 which has been 
reported.  Additional seed loan drawings subsequent to 30 June 2022, estimated to 
be up to $75,000 have increased the loan repayable on listing to $300,000. 

15. General operating expenditure since 30 June 2022, estimated to be up to $70,000 
have not been reported as a pro forma adjustment or subsequent event as they are 
not considered material nor events outside of ordinary business of the Company. 
Expenditure since 30 June 2022, were spent primarily on IPO costs and corporate 
and administrative expenses with the majority included in total cash costs of the Offer 
noted in 4 above.  

6.8  Contributed equity 

The pro-forma capital structure of the Company is set out below, reflecting the issued and 
paid-up capital structure of the Company before and following the completion of the Offer. 
It is calculated assuming that the Company completes the Offer on the terms set out in 
this Prospectus and the other pro-forma events described fully in Section 6.7 above in the 
Notes to the Pro Forma Historical Statement of Financial Position above and that no 
further Securities are issued, or Options are exercised. On admission, the Company’s 
capital structure will be as follows: 

  



 

70 

 

 
Sect 
6.7 
Note 

Shares 
Issue 
Price 
$ 

Contributed 
Equity 
$ 

At 30 June 2022, pre-Share Split 
shares of issue 

 1,000,000 .001 1,000 
Effect of Share Split 1 5,250,000   
Shares issued under the Offer 3 25,000,000 0.20 5,000,000 
Balance of Pro Forma  31,250,000  $5,001,000 

6.9  Option and performance securities valuation  

The following information was used in the valuation of the CEO and Director Options, 
Lead Manager Options, and Performance Rights described fully in Section 6.7 above. 
Options have been valued using the Black Scholes option pricing model. 

Valuation Summary 
Chair and 

CEO 
Options 

Director 
Options 

Lead 
Manager 
Options 

Performance 
Securities 
Class A 

Performance 
Securities 
Class B 

Performance 
Securities 
Class C 

Number of instruments 2,000,000 1,350,000 3,335,478 1,300,000 850,000 375,000 

Underlying share price 
($) 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 

Exercise price ($) 0.00 0.30 0.30 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Expected volatility 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 

Life of Options (years) 2 2 3 5 5 5 

Expected dividends nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Risk Free rate 3.156% 3.156% 3.241% 3.340% 3.340% 3.340% 
Value per instrument 
($) 0.2000 0.0825 0.1050 0.1839 0.1724 0.1675 

Value per tranche ($) $400,000 $111,375 $350,225 $239,070  $146,540  $62,813  

In accordance with AASB 2: Share based payment, the value of the Options and Rights 
are to be expensed over the vesting period by an increase in option reserves and 
accumulated losses. The value of the Lead Manager Options is considered to vest 
immediately on Admission and have been expensed as a pro forma adjustment as part of 
the direct capital raising cost of the Offer, offset against contributed equity and increase in 
the Option Reserve. The Chair and CEO Options, Director Options and Performance 
Securities are considered to vest immediately on Admission and have been expensed as 
a pro forma adjustment as part of the remuneration of Directors and CEO, increasing 
accumulated losses and an increase in the Option Reserve. 

6.10 Reconciliation of pro forma cash and cash equivalents  

 Pro Forma 
$ 

Cash as at 30 June 2022 226,000 
Cash from acquisition of Ollenburgs Pty Ltd 100 
Additional Seed funding from related parties 75,000 
Cash raised from new shares issued under the Offer 5,000,000 
The total cash costs related to the Offer (696,001) 
Cash payments to seed investors to settle related party loans  (300,000) 
Balance of Pro Forma Cash          4,305,099 
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6.11 Acquisition of subsidiary  

Under the terms of the Acquisition agreement with related entity Ollenburgs and upon 
listing on the ASX, the Company will purchase 100% of the issued shares in Ollenburgs 
for $1 in cash (“the Acquisition”).  

As a condition of the acquisition by the Company, the shareholders of Ollenburgs will 
forgive any outstanding loans payable to their related parties such that all liabilities of 
Ollenburgs will be paid, released or otherwise discharged on or before completion. 

The Directors have determined that the Acquisition does not meet the definition of a 
business combination under AASB 3 Business Combinations. Therefore, the transaction 
has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. Under the asset acquisition accounting 
policy adopted, the costs of the Acquisition are allocated to the assets acquired on the 
basis of relative fair values. 

The costs of the acquisition have been measured at the fair value of the consideration 
transferred in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurements. Once the cost of the 
transaction was determined, it was allocated to the individual assets acquired based on 
their relative fair values as per below: 

Purchase consideration At Acquisition 
$ 

Consideration paid in cash $1.00 for 100% issued shares  1 
  
  1 
  
Allocation to Assets Acquired  

$ 

Cash and receivables 100 
Exploration and evaluation asset - 
Related party loan (99) 
Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired 1 
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6.12 Contingent liabilities and commitments  

Directors are not aware of any other contingent assets or liabilities that are likely to have 
a material effect on the results of the Company as disclosed in the Financial Information.  

6.13 Related party transactions  

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no 
more favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. Details of 
Related Party Arrangements are provided in Section 4.10 of this Prospectus. 

Interest of Directors: Details of remuneration and interest held by directors are provided in 
Section 4 of this Prospectus.  

6.14  Statement of significant accounting policies  

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Financial Information 
are set out below. The Company was incorporated on 2 May 2022, and this represents the 
first reporting period for the company. The financial statements reported therefore do not 
include comparative information.   

(a) New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted   

The Company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are 
mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new or amended Accounting Standards or 
Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.   

(b) Basis of preparation of Financial Information   

The Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement principles, but not all the disclosure requirements, of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Corporations Act 2001 and comply with the recognition and measurement principles 
of International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB. Significant 
accounting policies that apply to the Company are set out below. 

The Financial Information is presented in an abbreviated form and does not contain all the 
disclosures that are usually provided in an annual financial report prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act. 

The Historical Financial Information has been extracted from the general-purpose 
financial statements of the Company for the period ended 30 June 2022 which were 
audited by PKF Brisbane Audit, who issued an unmodified opinion. 

(c) Going Concern    

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
contemplates the continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and 
the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.     

The Company is dependent on the ongoing financial support of its shareholders. The 
ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent on the shareholders 
continuing to provide that ongoing support. The Directors believe that the Company will 
continue as a going concern and the shareholders have agreed to the fundraising under 
the Prospectus. As a result, the financial information has been prepared on a going 
concern basis.  However, should the fundraising under the Prospectus be unsuccessful, 
the entity may not be able to continue as a going concern without the ongoing support of 
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shareholders. No adjustments have been made relating to the recoverability and 
classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company not continue as a 
going concern.   

(d) Reporting Basis and Conventions   

The report is also prepared on an accrual basis and is based on historic costs and does 
not take into account changing money values or, except where specifically stated, current 
valuations of non-current assets.   

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the company in 
the preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently 
applied, unless otherwise stated.    

(e) Segment reporting    

For the current reporting period, the Company’s sole activity was mineral exploration and 
resource development wholly within Australia, which is its only reportable segment.   

The reportable segment is represented by the financial statements forming this financial 
report.   

(f) Income Tax   

The income tax expense or benefit (revenue) for the period is the tax payable on the 
current period's taxable income based on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction 
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 
the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.   

The charge for current income tax expenses is based on the profit for the period adjusted 
for any non-assessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or are substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.   

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of 
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, 
where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.   

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are 
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents   

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown as borrowings in current liabilities on the 
statement of financial position.    

(h) Provisions   

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.    
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(i) Trade and Other Payables   

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the 
Company that remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Due to their short-term 
nature, they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted.  The balance is 
recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of 
recognition of the liability.   

(j) Borrowings   

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current 
liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the statement of financial position date.   

(k) Goods and Services Tax (GST)   

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except where GST incurred 
on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.   

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flow on a gross basis and the GST 
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authorities are classified as operating cash 
flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to the taxation authority.   

(l) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each 
separately identifiable area of interest. These costs are only carried forward where the 
right of tenure for the area of interest is current and to the extent that they are expected to 
be recouped through the successful development and commercial exploitation of the 
area, or alternatively sale of the area, or where activities in the area have not yet reached 
a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable 
reserves.  Exploration and evaluation expenditure assets acquired in a business 
combination are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness 
of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 

(m) Impairment of assets   

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the 
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the 
asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.   
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(n) Share-based payment transactions    

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instrument at the date at which they are granted when the fair value of 
goods and/or services cannot be determined. The fair value of options granted is 
measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The model uses assumptions 
and estimates as inputs.  

The cost of the equity settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the year in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending 
on the date on  which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting 
date’).The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each 
reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which the vesting year has 
expired and (ii) the number of  awards that, in the opinion of the Directors of the 
Company, will ultimately vest. This opinion is formed based on the best available 
information at balance date.   

No adjustment is made for the likelihood of the market performance conditions being met 
as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. 
The statement of comprehensive income charge or credit for a year represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognised at the beginning and end of the year. No 
expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where 
vesting is conditional upon a market condition. Where the terms of an equity settled 
award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the 
transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the date of the modification.   

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-employees is measured by reference to 
the fair value of goods and services received unless this cannot be measured reliably, in 
which case the cost is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted.    

(o) Contributed Equity   

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. 

(p) Accounting estimates and judgements   

In the process of applying the accounting policies, management has made certain 
judgements or estimations which have an effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial information.   

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on 
estimates and assumptions of future events. The key estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain 
assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:   

Recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure   

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is 
dependent on a number of factors, including whether the company decides to exploit the 
related lease itself, or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related exploration and 
evaluation asset through sale.   

Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and 
resources, future technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates, 
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future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and 
changes to commodity prices.   

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is 
dependent on a number of factors, including whether the company decides to exploit the 
related lease itself, or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related exploration and 
evaluation asset through sale. 

Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and 
resources, future technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates, 
future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and 
changes to commodity prices. 

Share based payment transactions 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. 
The fair value of options and performance rights are determined using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model. 

Acquisition of Subsidiary  

The Directors have determined that the Acquisition of Ollenburgs does not meet the 
definition of a business combination under AASB 3 Business Combinations. It was 
assessed that there was an absence of an integrated set of activities and assets that was 
capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return. 
Therefore, the transaction has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. Accordingly, 
no additional intangible assets (including any goodwill) have been recognised on 
completion of the Acquisition, Acquisition costs have been capitalised and deferred tax 
assets have not been recognised. 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-
19) pandemic has had, or may have, on the entity based on known information. This 
consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, customers, 
supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the entity operates. Other than as 
addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant 
impact upon the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to 
events or conditions which may impact the entity unfavourably as at the reporting date or 
subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 

(q) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST (or overseas 
VAT), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable. In these 
circumstances the GST (or overseas VAT) is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the 
statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.  Cash flows are presented in 
the statement of cash flows on a gross basis except for the GST component of investing 
and financing activities which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

(r) Earnings Per Share (EPS) 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of 
the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial period 
adjusted for any bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the period. 
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Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings 
per share to take into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing 
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number 
of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. 

(s) Leases 

AASB 16 (Leases) and its consequential amendments were applied from 1 July 2019, 
replacing the accounting requirements applicable to leases in AASB 117 Leases and 
related interpretations. AASB 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model that 
eliminates the requirement for leases to be classified as operating or finance leases. This 
means that for most leases, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability will be recognised, 
with the right-of-use asset being depreciated and the lease liability being unwound in 
principal and interest components over the life of the lease. The Company does not have 
any leases that meet the AASB 16 definition. 

(t) New and Amended Standards and Interpretations 

The Company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the AASB that are necessary for the current reporting period. 

(u) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial 
statements based on historical knowledge and best available current information. 
Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current 
trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Company.
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7. Investigating Accountant's Report 
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8. Independent Geologist's Report 
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9. Solicitors' Report on the Tenements 
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10. Additional Information 

10.1 Material Contracts 

(a) Lead Manager Agreement  

In November 2022, the Company entered into a mandate to engage PAC Partners 
Securities Pty Ltd (ACN 623 653 912), authorised representative of PAC Asset 
Management Pty Ltd (AFSL No. 335374) (“Lead Manager” or “PAC Partners”), 
pursuant to which the Lead Manager has agreed to act as lead manager in 
relation to the Offer (Lead Manager Mandate).  Pursuant to this agreement, the 
PAC Partners will manage and Offer and provide services on industry standard 
terms and conditions.  in consideration for these services, the Company has 
agreed to pay fees to PAC Partners as follows: 

(i) on the settlement date of the Offer, the Company must pay the Lead 
Manager: 

(A) a management fee equal to 2% of total funds raised under the 
Offer (plus GST); and 

(B) a selling fee of 4% on the Lead Manager’s allocation to the Offer 
(plus GST); 

(ii) the Company will issue 3,335,478 unlisted Options to PAC Partners or its 
nominees (Lead Manager Options), exercisable at $0.30 each and 
expiring 3 years from the date of issue of the Options (Refer Section 10.6 
for additional detail on the Lead Manager Options) 

The Company will reimburse the Lead Manager for reasonable out of pocket 
expenses. 

The Lead Manager Mandate may be terminated by the Lead Manager or the 
Company by written notice at any time with or without cause upon 7 days written 
notice to the other party. 

(b) Director agreements 

The Company has entered into the following agreements with its Directors, in 
respect of which the Board considers that the financial benefits given constitute 
reasonable remuneration in accordance with Section 211 of the Corporations Act: 

(i) Non-Executive Chairman and Director Agreement with Bryan Granzien 
(Non-Executive Chairman) 

The Company has entered into a Non-Executive Chairman and Director 
Agreement with Mr Granzien on standard commercial terms. The 
Company has agreed to pay Mr Granzien $36,000 per annum plus 
statutory superannuation for services provided to the Company as Non-
Executive Chairman, commencing on the date of this Prospectus. 

Mr Granzien will also be issued 1,000,000 Chair & CEO Options, 350,000 
Director Options and 750,000 Performance Rights (comprised of 400,000 
Class A Performance Rights, 250,000 Class B Performance Rights, and 
100,000 Class C Performance Rights) upon the Company’s admission to 
the Official List of the ASX. The vesting conditions and other terms of the 
Performance Rights, Director Options, and Chair & CEO Options are set 
out in Sections 4.6, 4.7, 10.5 and 10.8. 
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Mr Granzien is entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable travel, hotel and 
other expenses.  

(ii) Non-Executive Director Agreement with Brent Van Staden (Non-Executive 
Director) 

The Company has entered into a Non-Executive Director Agreement with 
Mr Van Staden on standard commercial terms. The Company has agreed 
to pay Mr Van Staden $30,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation 
for services provided to the Company as a Non-Executive Director, 
commencing on the date of this Prospectus. 

Mr Van Staden will also be issued 250,000 Director Options and 300,000 
Performance Rights (comprised of 150,000 Class A Performance Rights, 
100,000 Class B Performance Rights, and 50,000 Class C Performance 
Rights) upon the Company’s admission to the Official List of the ASX. The 
vesting conditions and other terms of the Performance Rights and Director 
Options are set out in Sections 4.6, 4.7, 10.5 and 10.8. 

Mr Van Staden is entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable travel, hotel and 
other expenses. 

(iii) Non-Executive Director Agreement with Tim Cooper (Non-Executive 
Director) 

The Company has entered into a Non-Executive Director Agreement with 
Mr Cooper on standard commercial terms. The Company has agreed to 
pay Mr Cooper $30,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation for 
services provided to the Company as a Non-Executive Director, 
commencing on the date that the Company’s Shares are admitted to the 
Official List of ASX. 

Mr Cooper will also be issued 250,000 Director Options and 300,000 
Performance Rights (comprised of 150,000 Class A Performance Rights, 
100,000 Class B Performance Rights, and 50,000 Class C Performance 
Rights) upon the Company’s admission to the Official List of the ASX. The 
vesting conditions and other terms of the Performance Rights and Director 
Options are set out in Sections 4.6, 4.7, 10.5 and 10.8. 

Mr Cooper is entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable travel, hotel and 
other expenses. 

Mr Cooper is a shareholder of MPX. MPX is a significant shareholder in 
the Company and the vendor under the Acquisition Agreement outlined in 
Sections 10.1(e). MPX has also entered into one of the Loan Deeds with 
the Company for a loan amount of $285,000 (refer to Section 10.1(f)). 

(c) Management agreements 

(i) Executive Services Agreement with Mark Purcell (Chief Executive Officer)  

The Company has entered into an Executive Services Agreement with Mr Mark 
Purcell as Chief Executive Officer (CEO).  

The engagement of Mr Mark Purcell under this agreement commenced 15 June 
2022 and continues for an initial fixed period of 3 years, unless terminated on 3 
months' notice by either party. However, the Company may terminate the 
agreement without notice if Mr Purcell engages in serious misconduct.   
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Mr Purcell's cash remuneration for his role as CEO is a salary of $250,000 per 
annum plus statutory superannuation, based on being employed by the Company 
on a full-time basis. Mr Purcell's remuneration is reduced by 25% until such time 
as the Company is admitted to the Official List of ASX. 

Mr Purcell will also be issued 1,000,000 Chair & CEO Options, 500,000 Director 
Options and 1,175,000 Performance Rights (comprised of 600,000 Class A 
Performance Rights, 400,000 Class B Performance Rights, and 175,000 Class C 
Performance Rights) upon the Company’s admission to the Official List of the 
ASX. The vesting conditions and other terms of the Performance Rights, Director 
Options, and Chair & CEO Options are set out in Sections 4.6, 4.7 10.5 and 10.8.  

(ii) Consultancy Agreement - Ian Kelso (Exploration Manager) 

The Company has entered into a Consultancy Agreement with Mr Ian Kelso as 
Exploration Manager. 

The engagement of Mr Kelso under this agreement commenced 1 September 
2022 and continues until terminated on 3 months' notice by either party. However, 
the Company may terminate the agreement without notice if Mr Kelso performs 
his role materially below the reasonable standards of technical, commercial, 
ethical and professional work and conduct expected by the Company.   

Mr Kelso's minimum cash remuneration for his role is $8,000 plus GST per 
calendar month, based on being undertaking ten days per calendar month of 
work, of at least 8 hours.  

(iii) Accounting and Company Secretarial Services 

The Company has engaged MH Private Pty Ltd (MH Private) to provide company 
secretarial and accounting Services to the Company.  

MH Private will be paid approximately $9,000 (plus GST) per month in respect of 
services provided (additional services may be billed separately). Either party may 
terminate the engagement on 1 months written notice.  

(d) Deeds of Indemnity, Insurance and Access 

The Company has entered into a Deed of Access, Indemnity and Insurance with each 
Director and Mark Purcell (each an Indemnified Party). This will entitle each Indemnified 
Party to access board papers, be indemnified from liability relating to performance of their 
duties as directors and officers and to have the Company procure and maintain Directors’ 
and Officers’ insurance to the extent the Company is able to obtain it. The Company may 
also make a payment in relation to legal costs incurred by these persons in defending an 
action for a liability or resisting or responding to actions taken by a government agency or 
a liquidator. Each such deed applies to the extent permitted by law. 

(e) Ollenburgs Acquisition Agreement 

On 2 August 2022, the Company entered into a binding agreement to acquire all of the 
issued share capital of Ollenburgs Pty Ltd ACN 631 498 765 from MPX for $1.  This entity 
is the registered holder of the Tenement. 

Completion of the Ollenburgs Acquisition Agreement is conditional upon the Company 
receiving a conditional admission letter from the ASX on terms satisfactory to the 
Company.  

(f) Seed Loan Agreements 
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The Company has entered into Loan Deeds with various parties to pay for the external 
and advisor costs relating to the acquisition of the Projects and seeking admission to the 
Official List of ASX.  

The Company has borrowed a total of $300,000 pursuant to the Loan Deeds, with the 
borrowed sums to be repaid in full within 2 Business Days from the date of admission to 
the Official List of ASX.   

MPX has entered into one of the Loan Deeds with the Company for a loan amount of 
$285,000 of which $135,000 was drawn at the date of this prospectus. A Director of the 
Company, Mr Tim Cooper, is also shareholder of MPX. MPX is a significant shareholder 
in the Company.  

10.2 Rights Attaching to Shares 

The rights attaching to ownership of Shares are: 

(a) detailed in the Company's Constitution; and 

(b) in certain circumstances, regulated by the Corporations Act, the Listing Rules and 
the general law. 

A summary of the more significant rights attaching to Shares is set out below. The 
summary is not exhaustive and does not constitute a definitive statement of the rights and 
liabilities of Shareholders. To obtain such a statement, persons should seek independent 
legal advice. 

(a) General Meetings 

Shareholders are entitled to be present in person, or by proxy, attorney or representative 
to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company. Personal representatives of a 
Shareholder must satisfy the board at least 48 hours before the meeting of their right to 
attend to represent a Shareholder. 

Shareholders may requisition meetings in accordance with section 249D of the 
Corporations Act and the Constitution of the Company. 

(b) Voting Rights 

Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of 
Shares, at general meetings of Shareholders or classes of Shareholders: 

(i) each Shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy, attorney 
or representative on a show of hands, every person present who is a 
Shareholder or a proxy, attorney or representative of a Shareholder has 
one vote; and 

(ii) on a poll, every person present who is a Shareholder or a proxy, attorney 
or representative of a Shareholder shall, in respect of each fully paid Share 
held by him or her, or in respect of which he or she is appointed a proxy, 
attorney or representative, have one vote for the Share, but in respect 
of partly paid Shares will have a vote equivalent to the proportion which 
the amount paid (not credited) is of the total amounts paid and payable 
in respect of those Shares (excluding amounts credited). 

(iii) Directors may approve methods for electronic voting and direct voting at 
general meetings. 
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(c) Dividend Rights 

Subject to and in accordance with the Corporations Act, the Listing Rules, the rights of 
any preference Shareholders and to the rights of the holders of any shares created or 
raised under any special arrangement as to dividend (currently, there are none), the 
Directors may from time to time declare a dividend to be paid to the Shareholders entitled 
to the dividend which will be payable on all Shares according to the proportion that the 
amount paid (not credited) is of the total amounts paid and payable (excluding amounts 
credited) in respect of such Shares. 

The Directors may from time to time pay to the Shareholders any interim dividends as 
they may determine. No dividend will carry interest as against the Company. The 
Directors may set aside out of the profits of the Company any amounts that they may 
determine as reserves, to be applied at the discretion of the Directors, for any purpose for 
which the profits of the Company may be properly applied. 

(d) Winding-Up 

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution 
of the Company, divide among the Shareholders in kind the whole or any part of the 
property of the Company, and may for that purpose set such value as he or she considers 
fair upon any property to be so divided, and may determine how the division is to be 
carried out as between the Shareholders or different classes of Shareholders. 

The liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution of the Company, vest the 
whole or any part of any such property in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of the 
contributories as the liquidator thinks fit. 

(e) Shareholder liability 

As the Shares offered under the Prospectus are fully paid Shares, they are not subject to 
any calls for money by the Directors and will therefore not become liable to forfeiture. 

(f) Transfer of Shares 

Generally, Shares in the Company are freely transferable, subject to formal requirements, 
the registration of the transfer not resulting in a contravention of or failure to observe the 
provisions of a law of Australia and the transfer not being in breach of the Corporations 
Act or the Listing Rules. 

(g) Alteration of Constitution 

In accordance with the Corporations Act, the Constitution can only be amended by a 
special resolution passed by at least three quarters of Shareholders present and voting at 
the general meeting. In addition, at least 28 days written notice specifying the intention to 
propose the resolution as a special resolution must be given. 

(h) Variation of rights 

Pursuant to Section 246B of the Corporations Act, the Company may, with the sanction of 
a special resolution passed at a meeting of Shareholders, vary or abrogate the rights 
attaching to Shares. 

If at any time the share capital is divided into different classes of Shares, the rights 
attached to any class (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the shares of 
that class), whether or not the Company is being wound up, may be varied or abrogated 
with the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters of the issued shares of that 
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class, or if authorised by a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders 
of the shares of that class. 

(i) Listing Rules 

If the Company is admitted to trading on the Official List, then despite anything in the 
Constitution, if the Listing Rules prohibit an act being done, the act must not be done. 
Nothing in the Constitution prevents an act being done that the Listing Rules require to be 
done. If the Listing Rules require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for 
that act to be done or not to be done (as the case may be). If the Listing Rules require the 
Constitution to contain a provision and it does not contain such a provision, the 
Constitution is deemed to contain that provision. If the Listing Rules require the 
Constitution not to contain a provision and it contains such a provision, the Constitution is 
deemed not to contain that provision. If a provision of the Constitution is inconsistent with 
the Listing Rules, the Constitution is deemed not to contain that provision to the extent of 
the inconsistency. 

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Company is authorised in certain circumstances to 
restrict dealings in securities to the extent required by the Listing Rules. 

10.3 Terms of Existing Options 

The Existing Options will be unlisted and issued for nil consideration, are exercisable at 
30 cents and expire (unless exercised) 36 months from the date of admission of the 
Company to the Official List of ASX.   

The remaining terms and conditions of the Existing Options are set out in Section 10.7. 

10.4 Terms of Loyalty Options 

The Loyalty Options are unlisted and will be issued for nil consideration as free Options 
on a 1 for every 2 Shares subscribed for under this Prospectus.  They are exercisable at 
30 cents and expire (unless exercised) 36 months from the date of issue.   

Regarding the date of issue, refer to the Indicative Timetable. 

The remaining terms and conditions of the Loyalty Options are set out in Section 10.7. 

10.5 Terms of Director and Management Options 

The Director and Management Options are issued in two classes, namely: 

(a) the Director Options; and 

(b) the Chair and CEO Options. 

Both classes of Director and Management Options were issued for nil consideration and 
expire in 24 months from the date of issue. 

The exercise price of the Director Options is 30 cents and cashless exercise, as 
described in Section 4.8, is available to holders. The exercise price of the Chair and CEO 
Options is nil. 

The Chair and CEO Options will not be issued if ASX does not grant a waiver sought by 
the Company from the application of ASX Listing Rule 1 Condition 12.  That rule requires 
that an entity seeking admission to the Official List of ASX may not have Options on issue 
with an exercise price of less than 20 cents.  Therefore, the Company has sought a 
waiver from ASX to permit the issue of the zero exercise price Chair and CEO Options. 
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The remaining terms and conditions of the Director and Management Options are set out 
in Section 10.7. 

10.6 Lead Manager Options 

Options will be issued in consideration for services provided under the Lead Manager 
Agreement (see Section 10.1(a)) for nil cash consideration, are exercisable at 30 cents 
and expire (unless exercised) 36 months from the date of issue.  The Lead Manager 
Options are unlisted and will be issued on the date contemplated in the Indicative 
Timetable. 

The remaining terms of the Lead Manager Options are Section 10.7. 

10.7 General terms and conditions of Options 

This section sets out the terms and conditions of the Loyalty Options, Existing Options, 
Director and Management Options and the Lead Manager Options. 

(a) Entitlement 

Each Option entitles the holder to subscribe for one Share upon exercise of the 
Option. 

(b) Exercise Period 

The Options are exercisable at any time on or prior to the date set out in Sections  
10.3 to 10.6 (as applicable in each case) (Exercise Period), subject to 
satisfaction of the Vesting Condition during the Exercise Period. 

(c) Notice of Exercise 

The Options may be exercised during the Exercise Period by notice in writing to 
the Company (Notice of Exercise) and payment of the Exercise Price for each 
Option being exercised in Australian currency by electronic funds transfer or other 
means of payment acceptable to the Company. 

(d) Exercise Date 

A Notice of Exercise is only effective on and from the later of the date of receipt of 
the Notice of Exercise and the date of receipt of the payment of the Exercise Price 
for each Option being exercised in cleared funds (Exercise Date).  

(e) Timing of issue of Shares on exercise 

 Within the period prescribed by the ASX Listing Rules, the Company will: 

(i) allot and issue the number of Shares required under these terms and 
conditions in respect of the number of Options specified in the Notice of 
Exercise and for which cleared funds have been received by the 
Company; and 

(ii) if required, give ASX a notice that complies with section 708A(5)(e) of the 
Corporations Act, or, if the Company is unable to issue such a notice, 
lodge with ASIC a prospectus prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act and do all such things necessary to ensure that there are 
not secondary trading restrictions on the Shares issued upon exercise of 
Options. 
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(f) Shares issued on exercise 

Shares issued on exercise of the Options rank will equally with the then issued 
Shares of the Company. 

(g) Quotation of Shares issued on exercise 

If admitted to the official list of ASX at the time, application will be made by the 
Company to ASX for quotation of the Shares issued upon the exercise of the 
Options as required by the Listing Rules. 

(h) Reconstruction of capital 

If at any time the issued capital of the Company is reconstructed, all rights of an 
Option holder are to be changed in a manner consistent with the Corporations Act 
and the ASX Listing Rules at the time of the reconstruction.  

(i) Participation in new issues 

There are no participation rights or entitlements inherent in the Options and 
holders will not be entitled to participate in new issues of capital offered to 
Shareholders during the currency of the Options without exercising the Options, 
subject to the Listing Rules. 

(j) Change in exercise price 

An Option does not confer the right to a change in Exercise Price or a change in 
the number of underlying securities over which the Option can be exercised. 

(k) Not Quoted 

The Options will not be quoted on ASX. 

(l) Transferability 

The Options, other than the Lead Manager Options,  are not transferable but may 
be issued to an entity or family member nominated by the Option holder.  

10.8 Terms and conditions of Performance Rights 

The terms of the Performance Rights, are as follows: 

(a) Notification to holder 

The Company shall notify the holder in writing when the relevant Milestone has 
been satisfied. 

(b) Conversion 

Upon satisfaction of the applicable Milestone and the issue of the notice referred 
to in paragraph (a) above, each Performance Right will automatically convert into 
one Share. 

(c) Conversion on change of control 

Notwithstanding the relevant Milestone being satisfied, upon the occurrence of 
either:  
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(i) a takeover bid under Chapter 6 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) having 
been made in respect of the Company having received acceptances for 
more than 50% of the Company’s Shares on issue and being declared 
unconditional by the bidder; or  

(ii) a Court granting orders approving a compromise or arrangement for the 
purposes of or in connection with a scheme of arrangement for the 
reconstruction of the Company or its amalgamation with any other 
company or companies,  

the Performance Rights will automatically convert into Shares, provided that if the 
number of Shares that would be issued upon such conversion is greater than 10% 
of the Company’s Shares on issue as at the date of conversion, then only that 
number of Performance Rights which is equal to 10% of the Company’s Shares 
on issue as at the date of conversion under this paragraph, will automatically 
convert into an equivalent number of Shares. The conversion will be completed on 
a pro rata basis across each class of Performance Rights then on issue, as well 
as on a pro rata basis for each holder of Performance Rights. Performance Rights 
that are not converted into Shares under this paragraph, will continue to be held 
by the holders on the same terms and conditions. 

(d) Lapse of a Performance Right 

Any Performance Right that has not been converted into a Share prior to the 
Expiry Date specified in section 4.7 will automatically lapse. 

(e) Fraudulent or dishonest action 

If a holder ceases to be an employee or Director of the Company in circumstances 
where the cessation or termination is specifically referenced to the holder having 
been found to have acted fraudulently or dishonestly in the performance of his or 
her duties, then:  

(i) the Board must deem any Performance Rights of the holder to have 
immediately lapsed and be forfeited; and  

(ii) any Performance Rights that have vested will continue in existence in 
accordance with their terms of issue, only if the relevant Milestone has 
previously been met, and any Shares issued on satisfaction of the 
applicable Milestone will remain the property of the holder.  

(f) Ceasing to be an employee or Director 

If a holder ceases to be an employee or Director of the Company in circumstances 
where the cessation or termination arises because the holder:  

(i) voluntarily resigns his or her position (other than to take up employment 
with a subsidiary of the Company);  

(ii) wilfully breaches the terms of the engagement of the holder or any policy 
of the Company’s published policies regulating the behaviour of holder;  

(iii) is convicted of a criminal offence which, in the reasonable opinion of the 
Company, might tend to injure the reputation or the business of the 
Company; or 

(iv) is found guilty of a breach of the Corporations Act and the Board considers 
that it brings the holder or the Company into disrepute,  
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then:  

(v) unless the Board decides otherwise in its absolute discretion, will deem 
any Performance Rights of the holder to have immediately lapsed and be 
forfeited; and  

(vi) any Performance Rights that have vested will continue in existence in 
accordance with their terms of issue, only if the relevant Milestone has 
previously been met and any Shares issued on satisfaction of the 
applicable Milestone, will remain the property of the holder. 

(g) Other Circumstances 

The Performance Rights will not lapse and will not be forfeited where the holder 
ceases to be an employee or Director of the Company for one of the following 
reasons:  

(i) death or total permanent disability (in respect of total permanent disability 
being that because of a sickness or injury, the holder is unable to work on 
his or her own or any occupation for which they are suited by training, 
education, or experience for a period beyond one year);  

(ii) redundancy (being where the holder ceases to be an employee or Director 
due to the Company no longer requiring the holder’s position to be 
performed by any person); or  

(iii) any other reason, other than a reason listed in paragraph (e) and (f) (not 
including (f)(i), in which case the Board may exercise its absolute 
discretion to allow the holder to retain his or her Performance Right), that 
the Board determines is reasonable to permit the holder to retain his or her 
Performance Rights,  

and in those circumstances the Performance Rights will continue to be subject to 
the applicable Milestone. 

(h) Shares issued on exercise 

Shares issued on exercise of the Performance Rights will rank equally with the 
then issued Shares of the Company.  If admitted to the official list of ASX at the 
time, application will be made by the Company to ASX for quotation of the Shares 
issued upon the exercise of the Performance Rights as required by the Listing 
Rules. 

(i) Not Quoted 

The Performance Rights will not be quoted on ASX. 

(j) Transferability 

The Performance Rights are not transferable but may be issued to an entity or 
family member nominated by the Director.  

(k) Timing of issue of Shares on exercise 

 Within the time period prescribed by the ASX Listing Rules, the Company will: 

(i) allot and issue the number of Shares required under these terms and 
conditions in respect of the number of Performance Rights converted; and 
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(ii) if required, give ASX a notice that complies with section 708A(5)(e) of the 
Corporations Act, or, if the Company is unable to issue such a notice, 
lodge with ASIC a prospectus prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act and do all such things necessary to ensure that there are 
not secondary trading restrictions on the Shares issued upon exercise of 
Performance Rights. 

(l) Reconstruction of capital 

If at any time the issued capital of the Company is reconstructed, all rights of a 
Performance Right holder are to be changed in a manner consistent with the 
Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules at the time of the reconstruction.  

(m) Participation in new issues 

There are no participation rights or entitlements inherent in the Performance Right 
and holders will not be entitled to participate in new issues of capital offered to 
Shareholders during the currency of the Performance Right without exercising the 
Performance Right, subject to the Listing Rules.  

(n) No rights to return of capital 

A Performance Right does not entitle the holder to a return of capital, whether in a 
winding up, upon a reduction of capital, or otherwise. 

(o) Rights on winding up 

A Performance Right does not entitle the holder to participate in the surplus profits 
or assets of the Company upon winding up. 

(p) No other rights 

A Performance Right gives the holder no rights other than those expressly 
provided by these terms and those provided at law, where such rights at law 
cannot be excluded by these terms. 

(q) ASX Listing Rule compliance 

The Board reserves the right to amend any term of the Performance Rights to 
ensure compliance with the ASX Listing Rules. 

The Vesting Conditions and Expiry Dates for the Performance Rights are set out in 
Section 4.7. 

10.9 Accounting, CFO and other services 

The Company makes use of outsourced accounting and CFO services, as well as other 
consultants from time to time, as required.  

10.10 Company Tax Status and Financial Year 

The Company will be taxed in Australia as a public company. The Company's financial 
year ends on 30 June annually. 

10.11 Dividend Policy 

The Directors anticipate that significant expenditure will be incurred in exploration 
activities on the Company's current and future resource projects. These activities are 
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expected to form the majority of expenditure in the 2-year period following the date of this 
Prospectus. Income growth in the form of dividends will only eventuate if planned 
development of the Projects is commercially successful. The Directors have no immediate 
intention to declare or distribute dividends. 

Any future determination as to the payment of dividends will be at the discretion of the 
Directors and will depend upon matters such as the availability of distributable earnings, 
operating results and the Company's financial condition, future capital requirements, 
general business and other factors considered relevant by the Directors. No assurances 
in relation to the payment of dividends, or the franking credits attached to such dividends, 
can be or are given. 

10.12 Share Split and Change of Name 

The Company has called a General Meeting to be held on 15 December 2022 for the 
Shareholders to consider, and if thought appropriate, to approve resolutions to:  

(a)  split the Company's Shares on issue, on the basis of 6.25 Shares for every Share 
on issue; and 

(b) change the Company's name to SQX Resources Limited. 

All Share capital information in this Prospectus is based on the post Share Split capital 
structure. Should the Share Split not be approved by Shareholders, the Company's 
Directors will reconsider the Company's capital structure and if required, issue a 
Supplementary Prospectus in accordance with the Corporations Act. 

10.13 Cleansing Lead Manager Options 

The Lead Manager Offer is made only to the Lead Manager in respect of the Lead 
Manager Options pursuant to section 708A(11) of the Corporations Act to remove any 
secondary trading restrictions relating to the Lead Manager Options. Only the Lead 
Manager may accept the Lead Manager Offer and apply for Lead Manager Options. 

10.14 Interests of Experts and Advisers 

Except as disclosed in this Prospectus, no expert, promoter or any other person named 
in this Prospectus as performing a function in a professional advisory or other 
capacity in connection with the preparation or distribution of the Prospectus, nor any firm 
in which any of those persons is or was a partner nor any company in which any of those 
persons is or was associated with, has now, or has had, in the two year period ending 
on the date of this Prospectus, any interest in: 

(a) the formation or promotion of the Company; or 

(b) property acquired or proposed to be acquired by the Company in connection with 
its formation or promotion or the Offer; or 

(c) the Offer. 

Colin Biggers & Paisley has acted as solicitors to the Offer. In respect of this work, the 
Company will pay approximately $83,000 net of GST up to the date of the Prospectus. 
Subsequently fees and out of scope matters will be paid in accordance with normal hourly 
rates. Colin Biggers & Paisley has not received any other fees for services to the 
Company in the 2 years prior to the date of this Prospectus. 

H&S Consultants Pty Ltd has prepared the Independent Geologist's Report in this 
Prospectus. In respect of this work, the Company has paid approximately $45,000 net of 
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GST. H&S Consultants Pty Ltd has not received any other fees for services to the 
Company in the 2 years prior to the date of this Prospectus. 

PKF Brisbane Audit has prepared the Investigating Accountant's Report in this 
Prospectus. In respect of this work, the Company will pay approximately $25,000 net of 
GST. PKF Brisbane Audit has not been paid any other fees for services to the Company 
in the 2 years prior to the date of this Prospectus. 

PKF Brisbane Audit has provided auditing services to the Company for the 2021 financial 
year. In respect of this work, the Company has paid approximately $25,000 net of GST.  
PKF Brisbane Audit has not been paid any other fees for services to the Company in the 2 
years prior to the date of this Prospectus.  

PAC Partners Securities Pty Ltd (ACN 623 653 912), authorised representative of PAC 
Asset Management Pty Ltd (AFSL No. 335374) has acted as Lead Manager to the Offer.  
Fees payable to PAC Partners Securities Pty Ltd (ACN 623 653 912), authorised 
representative of PAC Asset Management Pty Ltd (AFSL No. 335374) for this service are 
set out in Section 10.1(a). 

10.15 Consents 

The following parties have given their written consent to be named in this Prospectus and 
for the inclusion of statements made by those parties as described below in the form and 
context in which they are included and have not withdrawn such consent before 
lodgement of this Prospectus with ASIC. 

(a) Colin Biggers & Paisley has consented to being named as the Solicitors to the 
Offer in this Prospectus. 

(b) H&S Consultants Pty Ltd has consented to being named as the Independent 
Geologist and the inclusion of the Independent Geologist's Report in this 
Prospectus and all statements referring to it in this Prospectus. 

(c) PKF Brisbane Audit has consented to being named as the Investigating 
Accountant to the Company and the inclusion of the Investigating Accountant's 
Report in this Prospectus. 

(d) PKF Brisbane Audit has consented to being named as auditor in this Prospectus 
and all statements referring to it in this Prospectus. 

(e) Link Market Services has consented to being named as the Share Registry to the 
Offer. 

(f) PAC Partners Securities Pty Ltd (ACN 623 653 912), authorised representative of 
PAC Asset Management Pty Ltd (AFSL No. 335374) has consented to being 
named as Lead Manager to the Offer and all statements referring to it in this 
Prospectus. 

Each of the parties referred to above in this section: 

(a) does not make, or purport to make any statement in this Prospectus, or on which 
a statement made in this Prospectus is based other than as specified in this 
section; 

(b) to the maximum extent permitted by law, expressly disclaims and takes no 
responsibility for any part of this Prospectus other than a reference to its name 
and a statement included in the Prospectus with the consent of that party as 
specified in this section; and 
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(c) has not caused or authorised the issue of this Prospectus. 

10.16 Expenses of the Offer 

The cash expenses connected with this Prospectus and the Offer are estimated to be 
approximately $696,001 net of GST. These expenses are summarised below. 

Cash Expenses (net of GST)   
Cash payable to PAC partners Securities Pty Ltd $315,000 
ASX Listing Fees  $66,449 
ASIC Fee $3,206 
Legal fees and costs $82,950 
CEO costs $103,594 
Independent Geologist's Report costs $45,002 
Investigating Accountant's Report $26,250 
Auditor costs $26,250 
Travel / Accommodation / Rent $5,250 
Registry $4,200 
Consultancy Costs $7,350 
General expenses $5,250 
Printing and Typesetting $5,250 
Total cash expenses $696,001 

 
 

Non-Cash Expenses   
Value of Lead Manager Options $350,225 

Total non-cash expenses $350,225 
  
Total expenses of the Offer $1,046,226 

10.17 Litigation  

The Company is not involved in any litigation that is material for the purposes of this 
Prospectus and the Directors are not aware of any circumstances that might reasonably 
be expected to give rise to such litigation.  

10.18 Taxation  

The tax consequences of any investment in Securities will depend upon each applicant’s 
particular circumstances. It is the responsibility of all persons to satisfy themselves of the 
particular taxation treatment that applies to them in relation to the Offer by consulting their 
own professional tax advisers. Accordingly, the Company strongly recommends that all 
applicants obtain their own tax advice before deciding on whether or not to invest. Neither 
the Company nor any of its Directors accept any liability or responsibility in respect of the 
taxation consequences of an investment in Shares under the Offer. 

10.19 Electronic Prospectus 

Pursuant to Regulatory Guide 107, ASIC has exempted compliance with certain 
provisions of the Corporations Act to allow distribution of an Electronic Prospectus on the 
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basis of a paper Prospectus lodged with ASIC and the issue of Shares in response to an 
electronic application form, subject to compliance with certain provisions. If you have 
received this Prospectus as an Electronic Prospectus, please ensure that you have 
received the entire Prospectus accompanied by the Application Form. If you have not, 
please email the Company and the Company will send to you, for free, either a hard copy 
or a further electronic copy of this Prospectus or both.  

The Company reserves the right not to accept an Application Form from a person if it has 
reason to believe that when that person was given access to the electronic Application 
Form, it was not provided together with the Electronic Prospectus and any relevant 
supplementary or replacement prospectus or any of those documents were incomplete or 
altered. In such a case, the Application Monies received will be dealt with in accordance 
with section 722 of the Corporations Act. 

10.20 Documents available for inspection 

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection during normal business 
hours at the registered office of the Company:  

(a) this Prospectus; and 

(b) the Constitution. 
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11. Directors' Responsibility and Consent 

The Directors state that they have made all reasonable enquiries and on that basis have 
reasonable grounds to believe that any statements made by the Directors in this 
Prospectus are not misleading or deceptive and that in respect to any other statements 
made in the Prospectus by persons other than Directors, the Directors have made 
reasonable enquiries and on that basis have reasonable grounds to believe that persons 
making the statement or statements were competent to make such statements, those 
persons have given their consent to the statements being included in this Prospectus in 
the form and context in which they are included and have not withdrawn that consent 
before lodgement of this Prospectus with the ASIC, or to the Directors knowledge, before 
any issue of the Shares pursuant to this Prospectus. 

Each Director has consented to the lodgement of this Prospectus with the ASIC in 
accordance with section 720 of the Corporations Act and has not withdrawn that consent. 

Dated: 30 November 2022  

 

_________________ 
Bryan Granzien 
Chairman 
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12. Glossary 

Defined terms in Section 8 have the same meaning in this Prospectus, unless the context 
requires otherwise. 

Where the following terms are used in this Prospectus, they have the following meanings: 

Term Meaning 
A$ or $ Australian dollars unless otherwise stated. 

AEST Australian Eastern Standard Time. 

Applicant a person or entity who submits a valid Application Form 
pursuant to this Prospectus. 

Application a valid application made on an Application Form to subscribe 
for Shares pursuant to this Prospectus. 

Application Form an application form attached to this Prospectus. 

Application Monies money received by the Company under the Offer, being the 
Offer Price multiplied by the number of Offer Shares applied 
for. 

ASIC the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. 
ASX ASX Limited (ACN 008 624 691) or the Australian Securities 

Exchange operated by it (as the case requires). 

ASX Settlement ASX Settlement Pty Ltd ACN 008 504 532. 

ASX Settlement Rules the ASX Settlement Operating Rules, being the operating 
rules of the settlement facility provided by ASX Settlement. 

Board the board of directors of the Company as constituted from 
time to time. 

Chair & CEO Options the Options issued to the Chairman and CEO, as 
contemplated in section 10.5(b). 

CHESS the Clearing House Electronic Sub-register System operated 
by ASX Settlement. 

Colin Biggers & Paisley  Colin Biggers & Paisley Pty Ltd. 

Closing Date 5.00pm AEST on 14 December 2022. 

Company or SQX South-East Queensland Exploration Limited ACN 659 090 
338. 

Constitution the constitution of the Company. 

Corporations Act the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

ESOP Employee Share and Option Plan summarised in Section 
4.7. 

Existing Options the options on issue as at the date of this Prospectus, on the 
terms and conditions set out in Section 10.3 

Director a director of the Company. 

Director Options the Options contemplated in Section 10.5(a). 

Director and 
Management Options 

the Director Options and Chair and CEO Options or one of 
them, as the context indicates.  In this regard, refer to 
Section 10.5. 
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Term Meaning 
Group depending on context, the Company and/or its subsidiaries 

described in Section 2.2. 
IAR or Investigating 
Accountant's Report 

the investigating accountant's report prepared by the 
Investigating Accountant set out in Section 7. 

IGR or Independent 
Geologist's Report 

The report by H&S Consultants Pty Ltd set out in Section 8. 

Indicative Timetable or 
Timetable 

the indicative timetable for the Offer in this Prospectus in the 
Key Offer Information Section at the front of this Prospectus. 

Investigating 
Accountant 

PKF Brisbane Audit (ABN 33 873 151 348). 

Issue Date the date, as determined by the Directors, on which the 
Shares offered under the Offer are issued, which is 
anticipated to be the date identified in the Indicative 
Timetable. 

JORC Code The Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, 
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 2012 edition prepared 
by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia. 

Lead Manager PAC Partners Securities Pty Ltd (ACN 623 653 912), 
authorised representative of PAC Asset Management Pty 
Ltd (AFSL No. 335374) 

Lead Manager Mandate the mandate between the Lead Manager and the Company, 
the material terms of which are summarised in Section 
10.1(a) 

Lead Manager Options the options to be allotted and issued under the Lead 
Manager Offer, on the terms and conditions set out in 
Section 10.6. 

Listing the admission of the Company to the Official List and the 
quotation of its Shares on ASX. 

Listing Rules the official listing rules of ASX. 

Loyalty Option the options to be allotted and issued under the Offer, on the 
terms and conditions set out in Section 10.4 

Mining Act laws governing the Tenement, as set out in Section 9. 
MPX means Mining Projects Accelerator Pty Ltd ACN 629 011 

196. 

Offer an offer of 25,000,000 Shares at an issue price of $0.20 per 
Share to raise $5,000,000 and 1 free attaching Loyalty 
Option for every 2 Shares issued, with an exercise price of 
$0.30 per Loyalty Option. 

Offer Price $0.20 per Share. 

Official List the official list of the ASX. 
Official Quotation official quotation by ASX in accordance with the ASX Listing 

Rules 
Ollenburgs Acquisition 
Agreement 

is defined in Section 10.1(e). 
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Term Meaning 
Ollenburgs Prospect the exploration prospect, being part of the Tenement, 

described in Section 2.4 

Opening Date 7 December 2022 
Options the Loyalty Options, Existing Options, Director and 

Management Options, Chair & CEO Options and Lead 
Manager Options. 

Prospects One or both of the Scrub Paddock Prospect and the 
Ollenburgs Prospect, as the context requires. 

Prospectus this Prospectus and includes the electronic prospectus. 

Scrub Paddock 
Prospect 

the exploration prospect, being part of the Tenement, 
described in Section 2.4 

Section a section of this Prospectus. 

Securities means any securities, including Shares and Options, issued 
or granted by the Company. 

Seed Loan Agreements the agreements described in Section 10.1(f) 

Share a fully paid ordinary share in the Company. 
Share Split the share split described in Section 10.12. 

Shareholder a registered holder of Shares in the Company. 

Share Registry Link Market Services. 

Subsidiary Ollenburgs Pty Ltd 
Tenement the EPM 27257, located 37km northeast of Nanango and 

190km northwest of Brisbane, Queensland, described in 
Section 2.4 



 

180 

13. Corporate Directory 

 
Company  
SQX Resources Limited  
ACN 659 090 338 
 

Proposed ASX Code  
SQX 
 

Directors  
 
Bryan Granzien 
Independent Non-Executive Chair 

Tim Cooper 
Non-Executive Director  

Brent Van Staden 
Non-Executive Director 

Company Secretary 
Craig McPherson 
Level 1, 371 Queen Street, Brisbane QLD 
4000 
Tel: +61 7 3036 7174 
Email: info@mhprivate.com.au 
Web: https://www.mhprivate.com.au 
 

Registered Office 
SQX Resources Limited 
Level 1 
371 Queen Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
Web: info@sqxresources.com 
 

Legal Adviser 
Colin Biggers & Paisley Lawyers  
Level 35, 1 Eagle Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
Tel: +61 7 3002 8767 
Email:  brent.vanstaden@cbp.com.au  
Web: http://www.cbp.com.au 
 

Share Registry 
Link Market Services 
Level 21 
10 Eagle Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
Tel: +61 1800 426 150 
Web: https://www.linkmarketservices.com.au  
 

Investigating Accountant 
PKF Brisbane Audit 
Level 6, 10 Eagle St 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
Tel: +61 7 3839 9733 
Email: liam.murphy@pkf.com.au 
Web: http://www.pkf.com.au 
 

Independent Geologist 
H&S Consultants 
Level 6 
3 Trelawney Street 
EASTWOOD NSW 2122 
Email: simon.tear@hsconsultants.net.au 
Web: http://hsconsultants.net.au  

Auditor 
PKF Brisbane Audit 
Level 6, 10 Eagle St 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
Tel: +61 7 3839 9733 
Email: liam.murphy@pkf.com.au 
Web: http://www.pkf.com.au 
 

Lead Manager 
PAC Partners Securities Pty Ltd 
Level 29, 360 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
Tel: +61 3 9114 7419 
Email: Corporate@pacpartners.com.au  
Web: https://pacpartners.com.au 
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